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FROm ThE ChAiR
The Maritime Transport Amendment Act 2005 broadened our legislative mandate 
by introducing the wider principles of the New Zealand Transport Strategy. It is 
important to note however, that maritime safety remains a core objective of the 
Authority. The promotion of maritime safety, the provision of information and advice 
and the fostering of appropriate information education programmes are still functions 
of the Authority. These functions underpin the development of a safety culture in the 
maritime industry. Progress is being made on this but it is taking time.

Indeed the success of the recreational boating and 
FishSAFE programmes during 2006/07 are examples 
of the tide turning in this area. It is clear that a lot more 
remains to be done. Fostering strategic partnerships 
with key stakeholders in the maritime industry in 
tandem with tailored safety awareness programmes to 
our various stakeholders, is a practical way that MNZ 
can positively influence the continued development of 
a safety culture in the industry.

The policy of the Authority to visit different maritime 
centres and to meet with local maritime stakeholders 
continued during 2006/07 with the Authority 
holding its May 2007 meeting in Tauranga. This 
visit included a meeting with the chief executive 
of the Port of Tauranga followed by a tour of the 
port facilities, a meeting with the local stevedoring 
companies, Environment Bay of Plenty and the local 
coastguard unit. It was an interesting and rewarding 
day for everyone and helped to provide a deeper 
understanding of the issues currently facing  
the industry.

Sustainable funding of MNZ operations still remains 
a major concern. During 2006/07 MNZ developed, 
in conjunction with the Ministry of Transport (MoT), 
terms of reference for a charges review. The overall 
objective for the review was to establish a sustainable 
funding base that was fair, transparent and equitable. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed to carry  
out the charges review, which was completed in  
June 2007.

Consultation with the maritime industry on proposed 
revised charges is expected to occur towards the end 
of 2007.

The past year has seen continued collaboration  
with the MoT and other transport Crown agencies  
as we work toward realising the vision of the  
New Zealand Transport Strategy. During the year 
MNZ has actively contributed to the Transport Sector 
Strategic Directions work programme. We have also 
worked with the MoT on developing policy to give 
effect to a number of maritime conventions. A lot of 
this work is of an ongoing nature and we look forward 
to working closely with the MoT and other Crown 
agencies to achieve an affordable, integrated, safe, 
responsive and sustainable transport system.

Finally I would like to thank my fellow Authority 
members for their work and support during the  
year. I thank MNZ staff for their professionalism  
and commitment and in particular the leadership  
of Catherine and her executive team. I believe that 
MNZ is in a strong position going forward to meet  
the challenges of the future.

Susie Staley
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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With the incidents in the southern seas earlier this 
year involving the Japanese whaling fleet and protest 
vessels, it is a timely reminder of the importance to 
always be prepared for the unexpected. The maritime 
environment can be extremely harsh and time will 
always be of the essence to minimise the adverse 
impact on both people and the environment. 

Safety will always be a key focus for MNZ as we strive 
to minimise fatalities, accidents and incidents in the 
maritime environment. Significant safety improvements 
have continued to be made by various sectors of the 
maritime community, most notably with recreational 
boating. In the 2006 calendar year, recreational 
boating recorded its lowest level of fatalities, a 72% 
reduction since 2000. While there is always room 
for improvement, this excellent result stems from a 
number of safety partners working together as a team.

The ongoing development of excellent relationships 
with industry, regional councils and other government 
agencies was a key strategic focus during 2006/07. 
MNZ believes strongly that partnering with key 
stakeholders is the way forward to address the 
challenges currently facing industry.

Of particular significance has been the success of the 
FishSAFE programme aimed at improving safety within 
the fishing industry. The programme was developed 
by the fishing industry in conjunction with MNZ and 
Accident Compensation Corporation. At 30 June 
2007 502 fishermen from around New Zealand had 
attended the FishSAFE workshops. The programme 

has seen the development of positive relationships 
between people in industry, MNZ and other key 
agencies. Our expectation is that this will translate into 
increased safety awareness in the fishing industry with 
a consequential reduction in accidents and fatalities. 
Similar programmes in other sectors of the maritime 
industry are also planned to continue to build bridges 
with key stakeholders.

The review into the Cook Strait ferry trade was 
released in October 2006, making a total of 24 
recommendations. The review was commissioned 
by MNZ following a number of serious accidents, 
incidents and near misses in the Cook Strait over a 
5-year period. A Cook Strait ferry operations working 
group comprising key agencies responsible for safety 
in the Cook Strait (Interislander, Strait Shipping Ltd, 
the Marlborough and Wellington Harbourmasters and 
MNZ) was formed to consider the recommendations of 
the review.

As at 30 June 2007 all of the 24 recommendations 
had either been implemented or were in the process 
of being implemented. The speed with which these 
recommendations were operationalised and the 
commitment of key stakeholders to work together 
in a co-operative and proactive manner has been 
extremely pleasing and provides a solid platform to 
enhance these relationships going forward.

Other key initiatives progressed during 2006/07 
included the development of fatigue guidance material 
aimed at managing fatigue amongst vessels in the 

DiRECTOR’s REviEw
I am pleased to present this Annual Report, my first as Director. In assuming my role I 
must acknowledge the contribution made by the previous Director, Russell Kilvington. 
During his 13 years as Director, Russell has guided MNZ through an extensive 
period of change including the transition from the previous Maritime Safety Authority 
(MSA), the implementation of International Port and Ship Security Code, assuming 
responsibility for the Rescue Coordination Centre of New Zealand (RCCNZ) and 
implementation of the findings arising from the 2005 independent review of MNZ.

6

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



Safe Ship Management sector, release of the 2006 
Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy, review of MNZ’s 
direct and indirect charges and the commencement of 
the upgrade of MNZ’s IT system (a work programme 
comprising 23 projects spread over 3 years).

MNZ maintained a tight reign on expenditure during 
the 2006/07 financial year recording a $67,000 surplus 
despite uncertainly surrounding revenue streams and 
the volatility of the Marine Safety Charge. A review 
of MNZ’s direct and indirect charges has now been 
completed, and subject to the MoT’s approval, will  
be released to the maritime industry for comment  
late in 2007.

It has indeed been a year of change challenge and 
commitment for our MNZ staff who have shown 
remarkable resilience and fortitude in a year that 
has seen the relocation of our Wellington office, 
implementation of the information services strategic 
plan and a demanding work load in response to 
changing needs in the maritime industry. It is an honour 
and privilege to work alongside a team of proactive and 
passionate people who are committed to continually 
improving safety, security and environmental protection 
in the maritime sector.

Catherine taylor 
Director of Maritime NZ
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PRINcIPAl sERVIcEs  
PRoVIdEd bY MNZ

promote maritime safety and security, and  ■

protection of the marine environment in  
New Zealand and beyond, in accordance with  
New Zealand’s international obligations

develop maritime safety and marine protection rules ■

license ships, their operation and their crews ■

maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships ■

conduct safety inspections of New Zealand ships  ■

and of foreign ships calling at New Zealand ports

administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act  ■

1992 for ships

provide and operate lighthouses and other  ■

navigation aids for ships on the New Zealand coast

provide an appropriate coastal and long-range  ■

maritime distress and safety radio communication 
system

manage New Zealand’s ship and port security  ■

system and investigate and review maritime security 
breaches and incidents

administer international obligations of the Crown  ■

under the treaties, memoranda and other maritime 
agreements listed in the Output Agreement with the 
Minister of Transport

investigate and analyse maritime accidents and  ■

accident trends

educate the maritime community about safety and  ■

environmental standards and best practice

manage and co-ordinate Class III search and   ■

rescue (SAR)

maintain the New Zealand marine oil spill response  ■

strategy and national contingency plan

administer the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund ■

advise the Minister on technical maritime   ■

safety policy

represent New Zealand’s interests in international  ■

maritime forums such as the International Maritime 
Organization (IMO).

MNZ staff also oversee services provided by 
organisations under contract or delegated authority, 
principally in the areas of maritime radio services 
for communicating distress messages and safety 
information to and from ships at sea, maintenance 
of aids to navigation and the Safe Ship Management 
(SSM) system that replaced the traditional survey of 
ships in 1998.

MNZ develops, on behalf of the MoT, draft maritime 
and marine protection rules and delegated technical 
standards legislation provided for under the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994. Other Ministerial services 
include technical advice on maritime safety and 
environmental protection issues, advice on Ministerial 
correspondence, parliamentary questions and  
industry liaison.

The professional skills and qualifications of the staff 
cover a range of disciplines. uniquely, the number 
of staff with seagoing backgrounds makes MNZ 
the biggest New Zealand employer of professionally 
qualified seafarers outside the shipping industry.

Maritime New Zealand (MNZ) is a Crown entity established in August 1993 as the 
Maritime Safety Authority (MSA) and renamed with effect from 1 July 2005. Our vision 
is to promote a maritime environment with minimal deaths, accidents, incidents and 
pollution as part of an integrated and sustainable transport system.
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Susie Staley is the Chairman 
of the Authority. Susie is a 
barrister and solicitor, and a 
partner in the Dunedin law 
firm, Staley Cardoza. Susie’s 
area of practice covers a 
wide range of commercial, 
company and property work. 
Susie is also a director of 

Global Technologies (NZ) Limited, Tower Limited and 
a trustee of The university of Otago Foundation Trust. 
Susie has previously held positions as a director of 
PGG Wrightson Limited and Dunedin International 
Airport Limited. Susie became a member of the 
Authority in July 1999 and was appointed Chairman  
in December 2002.

dave Morgan is Deputy 
Chairman of the Authority. 
Dave was formerly President 
of the New Zealand Seafarers 
union. Dave served on 
the Marine Council and 
the New Zealand Shipping 
Industry Training Board, 
and was a member of the 

Shipping Industry Review Team that made strategic 
recommendations to the Minister of Transport in 2000. 
Dave is currently the New Zealand representative on 
the Board of the Pacific Forum Line and trustee of the 
Seafarers Scholarship Trust. Dave became a member 
of the Authority in July 2001 being appointed Deputy 
Chairman in June 2004.

Ken Gilligan was formerly 
General Manager and 
Managing Director of the  
Port of Napier. Prior to this, 
Ken was CEO of the  
New Zealand Ports Authority 
and had a 20-year career 
working in a variety of 
government departments. 

Ken is currently Chairman of the Hawke’s Bay  
Power Consumers’ Trust and the Energy Trusts of  

New Zealand (Inc), a Director of City Medical Limited 
and a trustee of the Napier Family Centre Financial 
Trust. Ken is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Logistics and Transport and became a member of  
the Authority in June 2003.

adrienne Young Cooper 
is director and principal of 
Hill Young Cooper Limited, 
a consultancy providing 
resource management and 
public policy consulting 
services. Adrienne is a 
director of Solid Energy  
New Zealand Limited, 

Auckland City Property Enterprise Board, Auckland 
Regional Transport Authority and a trustee for Cornwall 
Park Trust and Sir John Logan Campbell Residuary 
Estate. Adrienne has special interests in environmental, 
safety and transport governance and became a 
member of the Authority in July 2004.

Michael ludbrook is a 
management consultant 
specialising in assisting 
clients with major strategic 
change and performance 
improvement initiatives. 
Michael, a member of the 
New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, has 

over 30 years experience in most business disciplines. 
This experience has been gained in Australia and 
New Zealand working in the automotive, electricity 
and health sectors. Michael also holds a number 
of directorships in the health sector. Michael was 
appointed to the Authority in October 2006.

oUR oRGANIsATIoN

Authority members
MNZ is governed by a Board of five members appointed by the Governor General 
on the recommendation of the Minister of Transport. The Board appoints the 
Director of Maritime New Zealand, who has independent statutory powers under the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994. The members of the Authority during the year were:
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Executive team
Catherine taylor, director 
of Maritime New Zealand 
A chartered accountant, 
Catherine became Director in 
December 2006. Catherine 
has held senior management 
positions in the transport 
sector since 1990 when 
Catherine took on the 

role of General Manager Operations at Wellington 
Airport. Concurrent with that role, Catherine was also 
a Member (Director) of the Civil Aviation Authority 
(CAA) for 5 years. Subsequently, Catherine was 
appointed to General Manager Personnel Licensing 
and Aeronautical Services at the CAA before joining 
MNZ as Deputy Director Development and Business 
Services in 2004.

Peter williams, deputy 
director Safety and 
response Services  
Responsibilities include 
search and rescue (including 
RCCNZ), the distress and 
safety radio network, maritime 
security, oil pollution response 
and aids to navigation. 

Peter joined MNZ in 2002 as Divisional Manager 
Safety Services after a career in the Royal Navy 
(uK) and 9 years with Broadcast Communications 
Limited. Following implementation of the International 
Port and Ship Security Code and MNZ assuming 
responsibility for the RCCNZ, Peter was appointed to 
his position in January 2004.

John Mansell,  
General Manager  
Maritime Operations 
Responsibilities include Safe 
Ship Management systems 
and processes, flag and port 
state control, management 
of 10 district offices and 
oversight of all small 

commercial vessels. John is a Master Mariner and 
Fellow of the Nautical Institute with a seafaring career 
spanning 35 years. During this time John served 
aboard general and refrigerated cargo ships world 
wide and spent 20 years in command of passenger/
rail/road ferries in the Cook Strait trade. John joined 
the MSA in1994 and has held a variety of senior 
management portfolios within MNZ.

Bruce Maroc, deputy 
director Maritime Services 
Responsibilities include 
ship registration, maritime 
investigations, seafarer 
education and safety audits. 
Bruce holds postgraduate 
qualifications in Business 
(Shipping) and served at 

sea as chief engineer. Bruce was an Engineering 
Superintendent for Howard Smith Shipping in Australia 
before moving to New Zealand in1994 to become the 
Fleet Manager for Silver Fern Shipping before joining 
MSA in 2000. 

lindsay Sturt, General 
Manager Strategy  
and Communications 
Responsibilities include 
overseeing the safety and 
environmental research and 
analysis programme, rules 
development, international 
relations (including the IMO), 

the development and implementation of education 
and communication initiatives, and management of 
the National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy. Lindsay 
has been with MNZ since its inception in 1993, 
holding a number of senior management positions. 
Lindsay has wide experience in the development and 
implementation of shipping and ports policy, within 
New Zealand and overseas.

trevor Coad,  
General Manager 
Corporate Services 
Responsibilities include 
overseeing financial, 
information and administration 
services as well as MNZ’s 
planning and government 
reporting functions. Trevor 

has previously held a senior management portfolio with 
the Hutt Valley District Health Board as Chief Financial 
Officer, a role that encompassed responsibility for 
building and property services, procurement and 
information services and management. Moving to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005 Trevor worked 
in its Business Assurance unit specialising in risk 
management and internal audit, before joining  
MNZ in 2007.

Continued over
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oUR oRGANIsATIoN

Val Parsons, General 
Manager Human 
resources
Responsibilities include 
managing internal human 
resources (HR) policies and 
procedures and developing 
effective strategies to retain 
and recruit staff with technical 

expertise. Val has 25 years HR experience including 
working at a senior level within a large public sector 
organisation specialising in learning and development; 
being a member of a service centre management team 
as the HR specialist, and holding a number of HR 
advisory and leadership roles, prior to joining MNZ 
in February 2005.

Stephanie winson, 
legal Counsel
Responsibilities include the 
provision of specialist legal 
advice to the Authority on its 
legislative and governance 
responsibilities and to the 
Director and staff on the 
exercise of various statutory 

powers, advising on the management of legal risk and 
providing appropriate legal support in respect of civil 
and criminal litigation. Stephanie’s legal career started 
in 1991 as a criminal prosecutor in Namibia, joining the 
Namibian Parliament as Director of Legal Services in 
1995. Immigrating to New Zealand in 2000, Stephanie 
joined the Civil Aviation Authority and was its senior 
solicitor for 4 years before joining MNZ in August 2007.

oRGANIsATIoNAl sTRUcTURE
MNZ has 108 staff based in its Wellington and 10 regional offi ces, eight staff in the Marine Pollution Response 
Service (MPRS) at Te Atatu and 17 staff in the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand, at Lower Hutt. A 
recent review of the Monitoring and Compliance business group has resulted in a change to the structure of the 
organisation. This change is refl ected in the organisation chart below:

Functions

•  Marine pollution 
response

•  Maritime security

•  Rescue co-ordination 
centre

•  Aids to navigation

•  Distress radio

Functions

•  Safety management 
systems

•  Flag state control

•  Port state control

•  10 district offi ces

Functions

•  Ship registration

•  Licensing

•  Safety audit

•  Maritime investigations

Functions

•  Safety research and 
analysis

•  Environmental research 
and analysis

•  International relations

•  Recreational boating

•  Education and 
communication

Functions

•  Administration

•  Information services

•  Finance

•  Planning and 
government reporting

Authority of Maritime 
New Zealand

Director of
Maritime New Zealand

Deputy Director
Maritime Services

General Manager
Strategy & 

Communications

General Manager
Human Resources

Legal Counsel

General Manager
Maritime Operations

General Manager 
Corporate Services

Deputy Director
Safety & Response

Services
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AccoUNTAbIlITY
under the Crown Entities Act 2004, MNZ is a body 
corporate established under the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994. MNZ is a Crown agency, and must give 
effect to government policy when directed to do so  
by the responsible Minister.

While MNZ’s authority and accountability is based on 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994, it also has additional 
authority sourced in the following legislation:

Maritime Security Act 2004: MNZ undertakes the  ■

activities necessary for the effective implementation 
of the International Ship and Port Facility Code

Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990: MNZ is  ■

responsible for providing Class III search and rescue 
on a 24 hour per day, 7 days a week basis

Section 28B of the Health and Safety in  ■

Employment Act 1992: MNZ is responsible for 
administering the Act on board ships and for ships 
as places of work.

under the Crown Entities Act 2004, MNZ is required to 
produce an annual statement of intent, which includes 
the Authority’s strategic objectives over the next 3-year 
period. MNZ is also required to provide an Annual 
Report to Parliament.

In addition to these legislative provisions, MNZ 
must report against an annual Output Agreement 
between the Authority and the Minister of Transport. 
This agreement covers the Minister of Transport’s 
expectations as to what outputs (services) will be 
delivered during the financial year and a requirement to 
report against these expectations on a quarterly basis.

coNFlIcT oF INTEREsT
MNZ actively identifies and manages conflicts of 
interest to ensure that its business is carried out in a 
transparent and fair manner. Authority members and 
staff must declare all interests which may conflict with 
their duties. A Register of Interests is maintained by the 
General Manager Human Resources.

Governance and management
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oVERVIEw oF kEY AchIEVEMENTs
A summary of the key achievements progressed during 
the 2006/07 financial year include:

a review of operational practices and safety  ■

procedures in the Cook Strait

monitoring of international incidents in the   ■

southern ocean involving Japanese whaling  
and protest vessels

a review of third party charges and the revenue  ■

attributable to the commercial and recreational 
sectors

completion of a joint investigation with the Marshall  ■

islands into the fatality on the Tasman Resolution

the release of a draft of Maritime Rules Part 32  ■

(Foreign Going Deck Qualifications) for public 
consultation

a focused inspection campaign of shipboard   ■

cranes commenced

development of a draft strategy on safety   ■

in kayaking

implementation of the New Zealand Port and  ■

Harbour Marine Safety Code with nine harbour risk 
assessments now approved

development of a number of industry specific  ■

educational campaigns such as: recreational safe 
boating campaign, fatigue programme, barge 
stability guidelines and specific safety bulletins

development of partnerships with the industry  ■

sector through FishSAFE, National Pleasure 
Boat Safety Forum, IMO conventions and other 
international fora

replacement of lighthouse monitoring systems  ■

installed on 27 sites throughout New Zealand

upgrading the radio network on the   ■

Chatham Islands

work commenced to upgrade MNZ’s   ■

information systems

re-certification of MNZ as an ISO 9001 approved  ■

organisation.

(Refer to pages 25 to 32 inclusive for further 
information of our achievements)

sTRATEGIc TARGETs
MNZ monitors eight strategic safety and environmental 
targets that serve as a barometer of progress made 
against our stated vision of a maritime environment 
with minimal deaths, accidents, incidents and 
pollution. Fatalities and injuries resulting from maritime 
workplace activity across the whole maritime industry 
remained static and just above the target rate during 
the 2006/07 year. However, specific sectors within the 
maritime industry such as recreational boating and 
adventure tourism have shown a marked improvement 
against safety targets.

There was a 46% reduction in the number of fatalities 
involving recreational boats during the calendar year 
ended 31 December 2006, a continuation of the trend 
from previous years, representing a 72% reduction in 
fatalities since December 2000. A major factor in this 
continued reduction in recreational boating fatalities 
has been the implementation and regular review  
of the National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy,  
originally introduced in 2000/01. This together with 
recreational safe boating campaigns over the last  
4 years promoting the use of life jackets and reliance 
on marine weather forecasts before heading out to sea 
has contributed to improving the safety culture of the 
recreational boating public.

There was an increase in the rates for fatalities, serious 
injuries and accidents involving vessels operating under 
safety management systems during 2006/07. This was 
due to a substantial decrease in the number of vessel 
operating hours during the period as opposed to an 
increase in fatalities, serious injuries or accidents.

Year in review
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sERVIcE PERFoRMANcE
The 2006/07 maritime and marine protection rules 
programme was progressed in accordance with MoT 
agreed timeframes. Four maritime rules were sent to 
MoT for approval to release for comment; two rules 
were released for public consultation and two rules 
signed and another was waiting to be signed by the 
Minister. Four marine protection rules were progressed; 
one to final draft and three were released for public 
consultation.

New initiatives progressed during the year included:

development of SSM guidelines for operators of  ■

commercial ships under 24 m

development of sector specific fatigue   ■

management guidelines

release of the 2006 Marine Oil Spill   ■

Response Strategy

review of the risk assessment on the environmental  ■

impact of cruise ships visiting Fiordland

contribution to the first New Zealand meeting of  ■

the international Proliferation Security Initiative (PSI) 
Operational Expert's Group

revision of RCCNZ’s standard operating procedures. ■

A total of 22 non-conformities arising from the audit 
of two SSM companies still remained to be cleared 
by year end. This resulted in the actual completion 
rate of corrective actions arising from audits of SSM 
companies being only 33% of the target set for 
the year. Due to the nature of the non-conformities 
identified, MNZ decided it would be prudent to 
personally visit the companies concerned to provide 
assistance in addressing the problems encountered. 
In the interim, MNZ withdrew its delegated power 
entrusted to the SSM companies concerned until it 
was satisfied that the non conformities identified had 
been satisfactory resolved.

FINANcIAl PERFoRMANcE
The financial result of MNZ for the 2006/07 financial 
year showed a surplus of $67k against a budgeted 
deficit of $69k.

Total operating revenue of $25.596m was $0.683m 
higher than budget due to higher revenue from 
containerships/international cruise vessels and 
investment interest.

Total operating expenditure of $25.529m was 
$0.547m higher than originally budgeted due to higher 
recruitment costs, additional professional services 
resulting from an increase in regulatory activity and 
a higher level of expenditure incurred for search and 
rescue responses.

Fixed assets increased by $3.573m during the year 
reflecting an investment to upgrade MNZ’s information 
systems and the relocation of the Wellington office. 
Land transferred from the MoT (at no cost) on the 
establishment of Maritime Safety Authority in 1993 has 
been revalued by a registered valuer and recorded at a 
fair value of $0.648m.

ANNuAL REPORT 2006/07
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Strategic framework

1  http://www.transport.govt.nz/new-zealand-transport-strategy/

sTRATEGIc FRAMEwoRk
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MNZ’s strategic framework contributes to the vision of the 2002 New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS)1 that 
by 2010 New Zealand will have an affordable, integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system. 
The strategic framework diagram outlined below illustrates how the NZTS objectives together with government 
strategic priorities help to shape MNZ’s vision, intermediate outcomes (impacts) and work programme that it will 
undertake in future fi nancial years.
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MNZ’s vision is to provide a maritime environment with 
minimal deaths, accidents, incidents and pollution 
as part of an integrated and sustainable transport 
system. This vision is progressed and guided by 
MNZ’s contribution to the transport sector outcomes 
(objectives) contained in the NZTS. The outcomes that 
MNZ directly contributes towards are outlined below:

AssIsTING EcoNoMIc 
dEVEloPMENT
The key focus areas for this transport sector 
outcome are:

New Zealand’s transport system is improving   ■

its international and domestic linkages including  
inter-modal transfers.

The transport system is improving its ability to  ■

recover quickly and effectively from adverse events.

How MNZ has contributed to this 
outcome during 2006/07

Participated in a series of domestic Proliferation  ■

Security Initiative (PSI) “Industry Outreach” 
presentations around major New Zealand air and 
sea ports of entry. 

Assisted in the development of security measures  ■

for Cook Strait ferry operators, following a security 
risk assessment that identified the Cook Strait 
ferry services as an attractive target should an 
international terrorist threat eventuate in  
New Zealand.

Released a draft amendment to Foreign Going   ■

Deck Qualifications for public consultation to allow 
greater flexibility in recognising sea service for 
candidates for deck officer certificates on foreign 
going ships. 

Continued implementation of the voluntary   ■

New Zealand Port and Harbour Marine Safety  
Code to effectively identify and manage navigational 
safety and associated environmental risks.

ENsURING ENVIRoNMENTAl 
sUsTAINAbIlITY
A key focus area for this transport sector outcome is:

Transport is reducing its negative impacts on the  ■

human and natural environments.

How MNZ has contributed to this 
outcome during 2006/07

Presented two papers at the Spillcon ■ 2 2007 
conference in Australia. The first presentation drew 
on experiences learnt in Exercise Hard Rock3 that 
focused on the need to exercise and test response 
arrangements and the second focused on specialist 
equipment deployed in the oil spill recovery 
response from the Tasman Trader.4

Development and implementation of a   ■

discharge management plan for offshore 
installations to manage the risk of pollution of  
the marine environment by harmful substances  
used or produced in offshore mineral exploration 
or exploitation.

Conducted in conjunction with the Southland  ■

Regional Council, a review of the environmental 
impact flowing from a significant increase in both the 
size and number of cruise ships visiting Fiordland.

Provided a small oil pollution response team to  ■

assist the Australian Maritime Safety Authority and 
state authorities in managing the environmental risks 
associated with the grounding of the Pasha bulker 
in Newcastle, Australia.

Contributed to the development of a draft exclusive  ■

economic zone environmental management paper 
to be released for public discussion shortly.

Released the 2006 Marine Oil Spill   ■

Response Strategy.

AssIsTING sAFETY ANd  
PERsoNAl sEcURITY
A key focus area for this transport sector outcome is:

New Zealand’s transport system is increasingly safe  ■

and secure.

How MNZ has contributed to this 
outcome during 2006/07

Developed and distributed barge stability guidelines  ■

in response to the Rakanui barge accident in 
Picton Harbour. A more detailed Barge Code of 
Practice is also being developed.

Commenced a focused inspection campaign of  ■

shipboard cranes, following a large number of crane 
and cargo gear failures at New Zealand ports, 
almost exclusively on foreign flagged vessels.  

Linkages to transport sector outcomes

2 Spillcon is a triennial oil spill response conference rotating between Australia, the united States and the united Kingdom.

3 Exercise Hard Rock took place on 3-4 May 2006 and tested MNZ’s security, search and rescue and marine oil spill responses during major marine incidents.

4 The Tasman Trader ruptured her port wing fuel tank when a 19 tonne pallet was dropped while unloading in Auckland. The MPRS team deployed specialist equipment to transfer the 
oil. No oil was released into the marine environment.
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MNZ will report its findings to the Tokyo 
Memorandum of understanding on Port State 
Control (Tokyo Mou)5 and will be lobbying for a 
regional inspection campaign in the near future.

Released the review into Cook Strait ferry shipping  ■

activities. All 24 recommendations arising from this 
review have either been implemented or are under 
action. The review followed a series of incidents and 
accidents in the Cook Strait over a 5-year period.

Convened the National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum  ■

to review the recreational boating strategy.

upgraded the Chatham Islands distress radio  ■

network, a key project identified in the 2005 
independent Review of mNZ. The new network will 
enhance the co-ordination of search and rescue 
efforts in the Chatham Islands region.

Released a safety bulletin highlighting the   ■

dangers of sliding covers on the freeing ports6  
of fishing vessels. 

PRoTEcTING ANd PRoMoTING 
PUblIc hEAlTh
A key focus area for this transport sector outcome is:

Transport is reducing its negative impacts in terms  ■

of fatalities, injuries and harm to health.

How MNZ has contributed to this 
outcome during 2006/07

Development of a fatigue management programme  ■

aimed at managing fatigue in the SSM sector  
(about 3,300 vessels).

Contributed to the inter-agency interim management  ■

group tasked with developing a Drowning 
Prevention Strategy Implementation Plan.

5 The Tokyo Mou consists of participating maritime administrations in the Asia-Pacific region and aims to eliminate the operation of sub-standard ships through harmonising port state  
control inspections.

6 Freeing ports are a set of openings cut in the side of the vessel above the deck that allow water to drain freely off the deck. A blocked freeing port can lead to the accumulation of water on the deck. 
This can significantly affect vessel stability.
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Strategic safety and  
environmental targets

7 Targets over time are calculated as 3-year rolling averages. Starting points quoted in the text are for the July 2005/June 2006 year.

8 It is considered that the level of safety in this area cannot be further improved whilst still meeting a positive cost/benefit requirement.

Strategic targetS from July 
2006 to June 20107

B A 50% reduction in all accidents, fatalities and injuries involving passenger and non-passenger vessels 
operating under safety management systems, excluding commercial fishing vessels. This decrease is based on 
a starting point of 0.13 fatalities, 8.32 accidents and 1.36 injuries, per year, per 100,000 operating hours.

 The rates for fatalities, serious injuries, and accidents all increased during the year. This is due to a substantial 
decrease in the number of vessel operating hours in the target group as opposed to an increase in fatalities, 
serious injuries or accidents. All three trends remain above the set target rate.

A To minimise all accidents, fatalities and injuries involving international and New Zealand SOLAS vessels. 
The target is to see no increase8 from a starting point of 0.08 fatalities, 4.12 accidents and 0.74 injuries,  
per year, per 100 vessels.

 The fatalities index began to level off towards the end of the financial year after the death of a Russian  
seaman during the June quarter. All three indexes are meeting the set target rate.
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Strategic targetS from July 
2006 to June 20107

Strategy in action

D A reduction in all accidents, fatalities and injuries involving New Zealand commercial and New Zealand foreign 
chartered fishing vessels. The target is a 50% decrease from a starting point of 0.51 fatalities, 2.76 accidents 
and 1.23 injuries, per 100,000 operating hours, per year.

 The rates for fatalities, accidents, and serious injuries continued to decline over the year. All three indexes are 
still above the target rate.

C A 25% reduction in all accidents, fatalities and injuries involving pleasure boats. This is based on a  
starting point of 0.03 fatalities, per year, per 100,000 operating hours.

 The number of fatalities in this target group has continued to decline over the year. The fatality index is just 
above the desired target rate.
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Strategic targetS from July 
2006 to June 20107

F A 50% reduction in all accidents, fatalities, and injuries involving commercial marine craft engaged in  
adventure tourism. This is from a starting point of 0.27 fatalities, 4.36 accidents and 0.82 injuries,  
per 100 vessels, per year.

 The rates for fatalities and serious injuries dramaticly decreased over the year and are now both below  
the target rate. Accident rates continued to steadily decline but still remain over the desired target rate.

e A 50% reduction in the amount of oil spilled from vessels into the marine environment. This target is set from a 
starting point of 41.40 tonnes of oil spilled per year.

 The volume of oil spilled continued to decline throughout the year and although it is now beginning to level off 
the index is now well below the desired target rate.
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Strategy in action

Strategic targetS from July 
2006 to June 20107

G  Minimise all fatalities, accident and injuries involving all paddle craft (other than river rafts) operating 
commercially. The target is to see no increase from a starting point of 0 fatalities, 0 accidents and  
0 injuries, per year.

 Fatality rates remained static over the year, while the accident and serious injury rates showed some variability 
throughout the year. All three indexes are at the desired target rate.

H  A 25% reduction in all fatalities and injuries resulting from maritime workplace activity. This is from a starting 
point of 15 fatalities and 101 serious harm injuries, per year.

 Both indexes remained static over the year and remain just above the desired target rate.
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sIGNIFIcANT IssUEs ANd EVENTs

Review of operational practices and 
safety procedures in the Cook Strait

The Cook Strait Review was commissioned in 2006 
by MNZ and conducted by Captain Robin Plant, an 
international expert in ferry operations, following a 
series of incidents and accidents in the Cook Strait 
over a 5-year period. The review was benchmarked 
on international standards and overseen by a Steering 
Committee comprising an independent Chairman 
(William Falconer) and the five key agencies responsible 
for safety (Interislander, Strait Shipping Limited, 
Marlborough and Wellington Harbourmasters  
and MNZ).

Captain Plant’s brief was to look at whether past 
incidents and accidents had common contributing 
factors and if additional measures could be taken to 
improve safety. It encompassed the operational policies 
of the operators and the regulatory practices  
of the harbour authorities and MNZ. In his report, 
Captain Plant made 24 specific recommendations,  
all of which have either been implemented or are in  
the process of being implemented.

Southern ocean incidents

MNZ worked closely with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade in relation to incidents in the Southern 
Ocean involving the Japanese whaling fleet and protest 
vessels. The first incident involved a search and rescue 
for two members from the protest vessel Farley 
Mowat who were overdue from a trip in their inflatable 
boat. The Farley Mowat subsequently located both 
crew safe and well. This incident was followed by a 
collision between the kaiko Maru and another protest 
vessel, the Robert hunter. In a separate incident 
(not related to protest activity), a crew member on 
the whaler Nissan Maru died after a major fire on its 
factory deck. The majority of the crew were relocated 
to other whaling vessels leaving a skeleton crew on 
board to contain the fire and make repairs. The vessel 
was subsequently able to leave the area under her  
own power.

sAFETY

Accidents

Two fatalities and 285 accidents and incidents involving 
commercial vessels were reported to MNZ during 
the year. There were also 51 reports of serious harm 
to seafarers or passengers. The recreational sector 
reported nine fatalities from 94 accidents and incidents 
over the same period. Major investigations that were 
launched during the year included a joint investigation 
with the Marshall Islands administration into a fatality 
on the Tasman Resolution in January 2007, a 
detailed investigation in the roll over of the barge 
kimahia (which is still underway) and several health 
and safety accidents involving stevedoring activities.

MNZ concluded its investigation into the double 
fatality involving the barge Rakanui and significantly 
advanced its investigation into the Aratere heavy roll 
accident of 3 March 2006 and the loss of the fishing 
vessel kotuku.

Foreign going deck qualifications

A draft of the Maritime Rules Part 32 (Foreign Going 
Deck Qualifications) Amendment was released for 
public consultation during 2006/07. The proposed 
amendment will allow greater flexibility in recognising 
the sea time, enabling the foreign going chief mate 
and master of foreign going ship qualifications to be 
obtained in New Zealand. In the context of difficulties 
in recruiting and retaining suitably qualified maritime 
personnel (as identified for example in the Roadways to 
waterways9 document), the amendment is intended to 
assist the New Zealand maritime industry to attract and 
retain personnel by creating a clear pathway for career 
advancement in New Zealand.

Focused inspection campaign: cranes

MNZ commenced a focused inspection campaign of 
shipboard cranes. This follows a large number of crane 
and cargo gear failures at New Zealand ports, almost 
exclusively on foreign flagged vessels. MNZ will report 
its findings to the Tokyo Mou on Port State Control 
and will be lobbying for a regional inspection campaign 
in the near future. The current campaign finished on  
30 November 2006.

Key achievements in 2006/07

9 From Roadways to waterways: Enhancing New Zealand’s surface Transport Options is a report prepared by the New Zealand Shipping Federation.
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Search and rescue operations

In total, 83 people were rescued as a result of 
responses to Class III Search and Rescue (SAR) 
incidents during the year. Of these incidents, 11  
were aviation related, 33 were land related, and  
39 were maritime related. A further 226 people were 
assisted to safety.  Significant search and rescue 
events responded to by RCCNZ included the search 
for a kayaker lost at sea while attempting a Tasman 
crossing; the response to distress calls received from 
the kaiko Maru Japanese whaling vessel following 
a collision with the Robert hunter, a protest vessel, 
deep in the southern ocean; and the rescue of four 
people from a vessel that sank in Fiordland and the 
rescue of two crew from a helicopter that crashed 
in the Southern Alps.  RCCNZ also planned a SAR 
response for the bulk iron sands carrier, Taharoa 
Express, when it developed a significant list while  
on passage to Tasman Bay.

The RCCNZ successfully co-ordinated a search for a 
missing glider reported overdue from an international 
gliding competition. The terrain of the search area 
was rugged and difficult, and further complicated by 
the white wreckage being almost invisible amongst 
patches of snow in the immediate impact vicinity. 
A large number of the lessons learnt from previous 
aviation related searches were successfully employed 
during this search.

Safety in kayaking

A draft strategy on safety in kayaking was developed 
following extensive consultation with commercial 
operators, recreational bodies and national 
organisations. The draft strategy outlines initiatives 
covering entry level qualifications for commercial 
guides and instructors; safety management of 
commercial kayaking operations; standards for 
accommodation providers supplying small craft 
for guest use; competencies and assessment for 
multisport kayaking; and safety information for novice 
and intermediate recreational kayakers, and visiting 
overseas kayakers. The strategy is to be finalised 
following public consultation in late 2007.

EdUcATIoN ANd PARTNERshIPs

Recreational safe boating campaign

The campaign ran for a fourth successful season over 
the summer months with two key messages being 
promoted to the recreational boating public – “Stay 

on Top with a Lifejacket” and “Stay on Top with the 
Weather”. The campaign contributes to the significant 
improvement in the safety culture of the recreational 
boating community with fatalities steadily falling. 
Research conducted at the end of the campaign 
showed that 82% (or 287,000 boat owners) recalled 
the lifejacket advertising and 83% (or 290,500 boat 
owners) recalled the weather advertising. A very high 
percentage (92%) say they carry lifejackets on board 
their boat and 62% of boat owners say they checked a 
marine weather forecast before they last went out.

National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum

The National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum, convened by 
MNZ and comprising stakeholders in the recreational 
boating sector, met during 2006/07 to consider a draft 
review of the National Pleasure Boat Safety Strategy. 
The Forum endorsed the review (with some minor 
amendments) and considered future safety options to 
maintain the reduction in recreational boating fatalities 
following the introduction of the National Pleasure Boat 
Safety Strategy in 2000/01. This reduction has resulted 
in only seven fatalities being recorded in 2006, the 
lowest on record and continues a very steady decline 
over recent years toward an average of 14 fatalities 
per annum, compared to previous averages of over 20 
fatalities per annum.

FishSAFE

MNZ has continued to support the work of FishSAFE, 
an industry/government partnership formed in 
2004 to promote safety within the commercial 
fishing industry. Health and safety guidelines for 
small commercial fishing vessels were published in 
May 2006. Industry-run workshops to support the 
guidelines commenced soon after. A total of 502 
fishermen had attended workshops to the end of June 
2007. While it is too early to say with certainty, initial 
indications are that the workshops, and the associated 
industry-based mentor programme, are having a 
positive impact on safety. Complementary guidelines, 
workshops and a mentor scheme were introduced 
for the aquaculture sector in June 2007, and work 
has commenced to implement a similar approach in 
partnership with factory fishing operators.
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Fatigue programme

A series of resources have been written as the 
backbone of a fatigue programme aimed at managing 
fatigue amongst vessels in the SSM sector (about 
3,300 vessels). These resources include a brochure 
for crew and guides for vessel owners specific to four 
types of vessels with two more to be developed. The 
documents are at the design and print stage and 
will be available in their final format in August 2007. 
Additional advice will also be available for those with 
more complicated operations. In September 2007 
maritime safety inspectors and the staff of SSM 
companies will attend a one-day training workshop  
on fatigue management prior to the programme  
being launched.

Barge stability guidelines

The Barge stability Guidelines were completed and 
distributed during 2006/07. The guidelines were 
developed with industry in response to the Rakanui 
barge accident in Picton Harbour. The guidelines 
provide simple advice on barge stability and how to 
calculate it accurately. A more detailed Barge Code of 
Practice is also being developed.

New Zealand Port and Harbour Marine 
Safety Code

Implementation of the Code continues, with nine 
harbour risk assessments now approved. MNZ 
continued to consult with stakeholders on the  
approval and audit process to be used in regional 
safety management systems. At the end of this 
process the country’s ports and harbours will have 
robust systems in place to identify and manage 
navigational safety and associated environmental  
risks. The Code was published in response to a 
number of serious accidents involving large ships  
in, or approaching, New Zealand harbours.

Safety bulletin

A safety bulletin was released highlighting the dangers 
of sliding covers on the freeing ports of fishing vessels. 
This follows a recent survey of fishing vessels as part of 
a review of the applicable maritime rule which identified 
that the freeing ports on a number of vessels are 
blocked. Safety bulletins are intended as a means of 
quickly communicating safety messages to groups that 
may be exposed to risk.

New Zealand Injury Prevention Strategy

MNZ continued to contribute to the inter-agency 
interim management group tasked with developing 
the implementation plan for the Drowning Prevention 
Strategy. Work has focused on the review of 
governance of the water safety sector and on 
developing the 2006-2010 implementation plan for  
the strategy. MNZ also made a presentation on 
FishSAFE10 to the inter-agency group responsible for 
delivering the Workplace Health and Safety Strategy.

IMO conventions

MNZ supported policy development on possible  
New Zealand accession to a number of IMO 
conventions concerned with environmental protection. 
This policy is to be advanced through public discussion 
papers, due to be released in late 2007. Should the 
government decide to accede, amendments to the 
Maritime Transport Act could be introduced in 2008.

The policy development is being led by the MoT 
in respect of conventions dealing with planning 
and response to spills of hazardous and noxious 
substances other than oil; liability for ships’ bunker 
oil pollution damage; limitation of ship-owner liability; 
and powers to intervene on the high seas to deal with 
threats from substances other than oil. Biosecurity 
New Zealand is leading work on possible New Zealand 
accession to the international rules for managing risks 
associated with the introduction of harmful aquatic 
organisms in ships’ ballast water and sediments.

ENFoRcEMENT
During 2006/07 493 port state control inspections 
were carried out. A total of 865 deficiencies were 
identified and seven foreign flagged SOLAS11 vessels 
(1.42% of vessels inspected) were detained because 
they represented a danger to the safety of their crews 
or the marine environment (this compares to 25 vessels 
detained in the previous year).

The Director of Maritime New Zealand completed 
11 prosecutions during the year, eight resulting in 
convictions. Five were for recreational vessels and 
three commercial vessels.  One of the prosecutions 
was brought under the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992 (HSEA), with the other 
prosecutions being under either the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994 or Marine Offence Regulations.

The Director of Maritime New Zealand also issued 
one notice of imposition of conditions on a master’s 

10 FishSAFE is an MNZ convened, industry-led body aimed at creating a safer working environment aboard all New Zealand commercial fishing vessels.
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maritime document, prohibiting him from commanding 
a commercial passenger ship until such time as he 
had completed appropriate re-training and undergone 
a peer review by his employers and MNZ. In another 
matter involving a collision, the skipper of a commercial 
fishing vessel was required to undergo a safety 
oral examination on his knowledge of the collision 
prevention rule, navigation in fog and distress signals.

Navigational aids

A replacement lighthouse monitoring system was 
installed on 27 sites during 2006/07. The new 
monitoring system reports data via a web-based 
server and alarms sent via email and text messaging. 
This project is under budget and will be completed in 
late 2007. The replacement of the original monitoring 
system was driven by the shut down of the Telecom 
025 analogue network and the age of the monitoring 
system hardware and software.

Major lighthouse coating/restoration work was 
completed on time and within budget at the Tiritiri 
Matangi and Kahurangi lighthouses. A coating trial 
was also completed at the Waipapa Point Lighthouse 
with the view to complete full restoration work in the 
2007/08 financial year. The aim of the coating trial was 
to identify a best fit solution for the unique construction 
of this tower.

A new light beacon called “Puniho” was established 
in Taranaki, north of the Cape Egmont lighthouse. The 
new aid to navigation was installed to improve safety 
following several accidents and recommendations 
contained in the Thyme accident investigation and 
Coroner’s report.

dIsTREss ANd sAFETY  
RAdIo sERVIcEs

Chatham Island upgrade

The upgraded radio network on the Chatham Islands  
is now operational. This project was identified as a  
key work priority in the 2005 independent Review  
of mNZ. Completion of this project means that 
mariners in the Chatham Islands will now have direct 
access (via Channel 16) to the Maritime Operation 
Centre located in Avalon, Lower Hutt. It will also 
enhance the co-ordination of rescue efforts in the 
Chatham Island’s region.

Future significant works

The radio assets owned directly by MNZ are now 
between 5 and 9 years old. Management of these 
assets will be undertaken in a manner to maximise 
asset life while spreading the capital expenditure as 
evenly as possible over a number of years. Beginning 
in the 2007/08 period, proactive replacement of aging 
electronic sub-systems will occur on selected radio 
facilities while upgrading of infrastructure items (such 
as huts and poles) will occur based on need,  
as identified by inspection.

Strategic planning for radio

Because provision of radio services is inherently 
expensive and involves assets with relatively long 
life spans, sound forward planning is important. In 
addition to local and national priorities, there are 
many international factors that influence maritime 
radio services (for example, changing technical 
standards, new functions to support maritime security). 
Consequently, development of a radio strategy to 
the year 2025 was begun and will continue to be 
developed beyond 2006/07.

MARITIME ANd MARINE 
PRoTEcTIoN RUlEs
During the year, MNZ reviewed its structures 
and processes around the development and 
implementation of maritime and marine protection 
rules. As a result of this review, existing resources  
were drawn together to form two new teams, 
one focused on safety policy and the other on 
environmental policy. The processes and procedures 
governing the rules process, from policy development 
through drafting, consultation and implementation, 
are being progressively reviewed and refined. During 
2006/07, six Maritime (safety) Rules and four Marine 
Protection (environment) Rules were signed by 
the Minister. A further four rules were under active 
development during the year.

11 Means any ship to which the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974 applies, namely: 

 – a passenger ship engaged on an international voyage; or  
– a non-passenger ship of 500 tons or more engaged on an international voyage.

 (Part 20, Maritime Rules)

28

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



The New Zealand commercial fleet

At year end the number of New Zealand registered 
trading ships over 100 gross tons and over 24 m in 
length was 196 (189 in 2005/06). Total gross tonnage 
was 205,672 (232,191 in 2005/06). The number of 
New Zealand crewed ships operating (predominantly) 
in the New Zealand coastal trades at year-end was 13.

The small commercial vessel population grew over 
the year with 3,837 vessels (3,797 in 2005/06) being 
in SSM systems or operating under Safe Operational 
Plans (including 306 fishing boats, 297 rafts and 108 
jet boats).

ENVIRoNMENTAl sUsTAINAbIlITY

Operational oil spills

2006/07 saw a slight increase in reported operational 
oil spills, with the 93 reported during the year 
comparing to the 90 reported in 2005/06 and 108 
reported in 2004/05. Twenty-one percent of the spills 
in 2006/07 were of unknown volume (compared with 
19% in 2005/06). The majority of the spills where the 
size was known were under 0.1 tonne, with 63 (69%) 
spills in 2006/07 comparing to 42 (68%) in 2005/06. 
five spills over 0.1 tonne were recorded during the year 
(5.4%), compared with eight in 2005/06 (13%). There 
were zero Tier 3 oil spill responses during the year.

Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy

The 2006 Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy was 
released. The strategy takes into account the 2004 
New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Risk Assessment and 
reorients risk management towards the northeast coast 
of the North Island. This is due to greater shipping 
volume (including crude oil), combined with the area’s 
overall environmental sensitivity. The strategy is subject 
to a 5 year formal review process. This is the third 
revision since the strategy was established in 1992.

Environmental management of the 
exclusive economic zone

MNZ contributed to the development of the officials’ 
draft on the exclusive economic zone environmental 
management options public discussion paper. MNZ 
worked closely with the MoT to provide a transport 
perspective to the group, which was co-ordinated by 
the Ministry for the Environment.

Risk assessment – Fiordland

The environmental impact of a significant increase 
in both the size and number of cruise ships visiting 
Fiordland was not adequately addressed in the 
initial risk assessment. To address this, a joint MNZ/
Southland Regional Council (SRC) independent review 
of the risks related to operation of cruise ships in 
Fiordland was conducted. This review identified issues 
of inconsistent standards for pilotage training and 
operations in Fiordland waters, with three competing 
providers of pilots to cruise ships visiting Fiordland.

MNZ convened a meeting of all pilotage providers, the 
SRC harbourmaster and cruise ship agents, to obtain 
agreement on a common standard for both training 
and operational procedures for pilotage in Fiordland. 
Agreement was reached and these common standards 
will be in place before the first seasonal cruise ship is 
due to visit Fiordland in September 2007.

Spillcon

MNZ presented two papers at the Spillcon 2007 
conference in Australia, drawing on experiences 
learnt in Exercise Hard Rock and the need to exercise 
and test response arrangements. The second paper 
focused on the oil spill recovery response from the 
Tasman Trader. This year’s conference theme was 
“Global, Regional, Local” and included a summary of 
the Napoli incident12 earlier this year with particular 
reference and discussion around places of refuge, 
meeting community expectations and developing 
response capacity and capability.

Offshore contingency planning

The first discharge management plan for an offshore 
installation under the new rule Part 200 was approved 
during the year. Part 200 introduces an integrated 
plan to manage the risk of pollution of the marine 
environment by harmful substances used or produced 
in offshore mineral exploration or exploitation. The rule 
applies to all new installations immediately. Existing 
installations outside 12 miles have up to one year and 
existing installations inside 12 miles have up to 3 years 
to have discharge management plans approved.

12  The container vessel Msc Napoli was beached off the Devon coast after it ran into difficulties in January 2007.
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Marine pollution response training

Grounding of Pasha Bulker

The grounding of the Pasha bulker in Newcastle, 
Australia provided the opportunity for three of MNZ’s 
oil pollution response team to participate in the 
initial response to the incident at the invitation of the 
Australian Maritime Safety Authority. The experience 
gained from participating in this exercise will be 
valuable in preparing MNZ’s response team for similar 
situations that may arise on the New Zealand coast. 
This incident also highlighted the close co-operation 
between New Zealand and Australia particularly when 
it comes to emergency management.

Staff secondment programme

As part of the worldwide oil spill response community, 
MNZ has become involved in a staff secondment 
programme with the East Asia Response Limited 
(EARL based in Singapore) who are in alliance 
with Oil Spill Response Limited (OSRL based in 
Southhampton). 

There are some notable benefits to conducting this 
type of secondment, eg variation of work for staff, job 
rotation for those in New Zealand, relationship building 
and recognising each organisation’s capability. These 
exchanges are important in a world where commercial 
support is critical to the response that governments 
mount against the threat of oil pollution. They also 
expose personnel to a wide variety of experiences that 
might not usually be gained through the normal day-to-
day operations.

MARINE PRoTEcTIoN RUlEs
MNZ developed and released draft marine protection 
rules to give effect to revised annex I (dealing with oil) 
and annex II (dealing with noxious liquid substances  
in bulk) of MARPOL (The International Convention  
for Prevention of Pollution from Ships 1973 and 
its 1978 Protocol). The revised rules will enhance 
protection of the marine environment through new 
ship design features and higher standards for pollution 
prevention equipment.

The revised annex II requirements incorporate a new 
scheme for profiling the hazards of noxious liquid 
substances and their categorisation for shipment and 
discharge. More stringent standards for on board 
containment and ships’ intact stability will apply to 
some substances. The final rules will be forwarded to 
the Minister of Transport for consideration in late 2007.

sEcURITY

Proliferation security initiative

MNZ is contributing to a number of whole of 
government activities designed to advance the 
Proliferation Security Initiative (PSI). The PSI is an 
international initiative to prevent the proliferation of 
weapons of mass destruction and related material. 
MNZ was active in a series of domestic PSI Industry 
Outreach presentations around major New Zealand  
air and sea ports of entry. The aim of these 
presentations was to inform key manufacturing, 
transport and scientific sector professionals on how 
they can best assist New Zealand’s PSI efforts.

MNZ also contributed to the first New Zealand  
meeting of the international PSI Operational Expert's 
Group (OEG).13 This meeting focused on law 
enforcement/response, intelligence and legal issues 
surrounding the PSI.

Cook Strait security

Strait Shipping Ltd’s plan for increased security 
measures in the event of an increased terrorist 
threat to New Zealand has now been approved. 
The development of these plans follows a security 
risk assessment that identified the Cook Strait ferry 
services as a likely target should an international 
terrorist threat eventuate in New Zealand. In that  
case both the Strait Shipping and Interislander 
companies would be brought under the provisions  
of the Maritime Security Act 2004 (s78) and their 
security plans would be activated.

cAPAbIlITY

Sustainable funding

During 2006/07 MNZ developed, in conjunction with 
the MoT, terms of reference for a charges review. 
The overall objective for the review was to establish 
a sustainable funding base that was fair, transparent 
and equitable. The charges review had three main 
objectives:

to allocate the costs of MNZ activities to the  ■

commercial and recreational sectors and assess 
how the costs compare with the level of funding 
associated with each sector

to analyse the costs attributable to various  ■

categories of commercial vessel and assess how 
these compare with the amount of Marine Safety 
Charge (MSC) paid by each vessel category and

13  The OEG consists of the 21 key PSI partner nations.
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to assess the costs involved with licensing and  ■

registration activities and compare these with the 
level of revenue from direct user charges.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) was appointed to 
carry out the charges review. PWC initially conducted 
a preliminary analysis of the overall costs and revenues 
attributable to the commercial and recreational 
sectors. Following this PWC went on to provide an 
assessment of the appropriate level of MSC and the 
impact any increase in charges would have on the 
maritime industry. The review was completed in June 
2007 and the methodology used in determining these 
charges was forwarded to the MoT for feedback late in 
June 2007. During 2007/08 MNZ will consult with the 
maritime industry on the proposed new charges. This 
is expected to occur towards the end of 2007.

Information systems upgrade

A work programme to upgrade MNZ’s Information 
systems commenced during the year. This was in 
response to the 2005 independent Review of mNZ, 
which found amongst other things, that MNZ’s core  
IT application was posing a number of business risks 
and required replacement.

The total work programme comprises 23 projects 
spread over 3 years and is divided into four work 
streams. The first work stream has now been 
successfully implemented. One of the four information 
systems implemented includes MNZ’s new Electronic 
Documents and Records Management System 
(EDRMS). The EDRMS will provide MNZ with a 
centralised area to save and store documents and 
records. In day-to-day operations, staff will use the 
EDRMS to save new information or search within the 
system for existing documentation. Expected benefits 
to arise from using the EDRMS include:

rapid retrieval of documents and information   ■

from files

advanced searching capability – retrieves files by  ■

any word or phrase in the document

no lost files (backup of information) ■

versioning – ensures that staff are always looking at  ■

the most current information

sharing – centralised system allows for information  ■

to be shared throughout MNZ

minimise duplication of work ■

individual’s work is stored, allowing better coverage  ■

for leave, absenteeism and resignations

provides support in litigation ■

legislative compliance (Public Records Act). ■

The remaining three work streams will be rolled out 
over the next two financial years and will include 
operational and management support systems such  
as ship record management, certification and 
exemption management, human resources, finance, 
asset, risk and project management systems.

Maintaining and developing capability

MNZ’s aim is to become an employer of choice. To  
do this it has begun reviewing its human resource 
policies and practices to not only ensure that they  
are compliant with the “good employer” principles of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, but also are considered 
to be fair, transparent and applied consistently to  
our employees. Equal Employment Opportunities 
(EEO) are embedded in all human resource strategy 
and planning, and all systems and practices are non-
discriminatory.

With emphasis on MNZ’s EEO policy, good employer 
principles and MNZ's values, the following initiatives 
were achieved during 2006/07:

provided education sessions with Managers on  ■

Human Rights Act, Generation X and Y, the different 
employment arrangements

enhanced recruitment procedures ensuring that not  ■

only does MNZ attract the best people but also the 
right people

introduced a new group induction programme,  ■

focusing on providing new employees with 
information, policies and procedures to aid them  
in being effective in their new roles

successfully re-negotiated the MNZ/Public Service  ■

Association Collective Employment Agreement

produced the MNZ Customer Service Charter,  ■

providing customers with an assurance that they  
will be treated fairly, consistently and professionally 
at all times

introduced a self help programme for staff in  ■

addressing discomfort, pain and injury management

all managers attended a leadership development  ■

workshop introducing a new tool for managing and 
developing staff

obtained Accident Compensation Corporation  ■

Workplace Safety Management Programme 
accreditation for health and safety

implemented procedures for managers and staff in  ■

dealing with a pandemic.
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Like other organisations, MNZ’s key resources are its 
people. MNZ continues to build on its human resource 
policies and procedures in consultation with other 
government agencies to ensure that a quality service 
is provided to its diverse array of stakeholders. MNZ’s 
strategic focus for 2007/08 will be to continue to 
retain its existing capability, with the long-term view of 
enhancing its reputation in the marketplace. 

International Organization of 
Standardization (ISO) Audit

MNZ was also subject to an external audit of its 
quality management system by Bureau Veritas Quality 
International, resulting in the organisation’s re-
certification as an ISO 9001 approved organisation.

Relocation of Wellington office

In March 2007 MNZ successfully completed the 
relocation of its Wellington office to Optimation House, 
1 Grey Street, Wellington. 
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

Statement of Responsibility
The preparation of the financial statements and the statement of service performance of Maritime New Zealand 
and the judgements used herein are the responsibility of the Authority members and management and have been 
prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance  
as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and the statement of service performance for the  
year ended 30 June 2007 is the responsibility of the Authority members and management.

In the opinion of the Authority members and management the financial statements and the statement of  
service performance for the year ended 30 June 2007 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of 
Maritime New Zealand.

Susie Staley dave Morgan
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Date 31 October 2007 Date 31 October 2007

34

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



AUdIT REPoRT

To the readers of 
Maritime New Zealand’s 
Financial Statements and Performance Information
For the year ended 30 June 2007

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The Auditor-General has appointed 
me John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit on his behalf. 
The audit covers the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance included in the annual report of 
Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2007.

Unqualifi ed opinion

In our opinion:

The fi nancial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 37 to 59: ■

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and ■

fairly refl ect: ■

Maritime NZ’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2007; and ■

the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. ■

The statement of service performance of Maritime NZ on pages 62 to 69: ■

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and ■

fairly refl ects for each class of outputs: ■

its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards outlined in the  ■

statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the fi nancial year; and

its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast revenues and  ■

output expenses outlined in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the 
fi nancial year.

The audit was completed on 31 October 2007 and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and the 
Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in 
order to obtain reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements and statement of service performance did not 
have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s 
overall understanding of the fi nancial statements and the statement of service performance. If we had found 
material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.
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The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements and 
statement of service performance. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to  ■

produce complete and accurate data

verifying samples of transactions and account balances ■

performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data ■

reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board ■

confirming year-end balances ■

determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and ■

determining whether all financial statement and statement of service performance disclosures are adequate. ■

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements or 
statement of service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and statement of 
service performance. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board and the Auditor

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement of service performance in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The financial statements must fairly 
reflect the financial position of Maritime NZ as at 30 June 2007 and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year ended on that date. The statement of service performance must fairly reflect, for each class of 
outputs, Maritime NZ’s standards of delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, 
as compared with the forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the financial year. The 
Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and statement of service 
performance and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 
2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which 
incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

In addition to the audit we have carried out an assignment during the reporting period in the area of independent 
assurance over the programme of work associated with the Information Systems Strategic Plan. This assignment 
is compatible with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and this assignment we have no 
relationship with or interests in Maritime NZ.

John O’Connell 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements and statement 
of service performance

This audit report relates to the financial statements and the statement of service performance of Maritime 
New Zealand (Maritime NZ) for the year ended 30 June 2007 included on Maritime NZ’s web site. Maritime 
NZ’s Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Maritime NZ’s web site. We have not been 
engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime NZ’s web site. We accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements and the statement of service performance since they 
were initially presented on the web site.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements and the statement of service performance named 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from 
these financial statements and the statement of service performance. If readers of this report are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published 
hard copy of the audited financial statements and statement of service performance and related audit 
report dated 31 October 2007 to confirm the information included in the audited financial statements and 
statement of service performance presented on this web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of accounting policies 
For the year ended 30 June 2007

REPoRTING ENTITY
The financial statements presented are those of 
Maritime New Zealand (the Authority).

The Authority is a Crown entity established in August 
1993 under the Maritime Transport Act. The objective 
of the Authority is to undertake its safety, security, 
marine protection, and other functions in a way that 
contributes to the aim of achieving an integrated, safe, 
responsive, and sustainable transport system.

The financial statements of the Authority have been 
prepared in accordance with the Public Finance Act 
1989 and s154 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.

MEAsUREMENT bAsE
The measurement base applied is historical cost.  
The accrual basis of accounting has been used.  
These financial statements are presented in  
New Zealand dollars.

AccoUNTING PolIcIEs
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The financial statements are prepared on a GST 
exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts 
receivable and accounts payable which are stated with 
GST included. Where GST is irrecoverable as an input 
tax, then it is recognised as part of the related asset  
or expense.

Taxation

The Authority is a public authority in terms of the 
Income Tax Act 1994 and consequently is exempt  
from income tax.

Budget figures

The budget figures are those approved by the Authority 
at the beginning of the financial year.

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice and 
are consistent with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Authority for the preparation of the financial 
statements.

Revenue

The Authority derives revenue through the provision of 
outputs to the Crown, for services to third parties and 
interest on investments. Such revenue is recognised 
when earned and is reported in the financial period in 
which they relate.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the financial period to 
which they relate.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments, where the lessors 
effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are charged as an 
expense in the period in which they relate.

Cost allocation

The Authority has derived the cost of outputs using a 
cost allocation system that is outlined below.

Assigning costs to outputs

All costs are tracked by account code, cost centre  
and activity code. Indirect costs are allocated to cost 
on the basis of cost drivers. The cost centres are 
assigned or apportioned to an output or outputs. 
For the majority of cost centres there is a one to one 
relationship with outputs. All overhead are assigned to 
outputs on the basis of full time equivalents (FTE’s).

For the year ended 30 June 2007, indirect costs 
accounted for 29% of the Authority’s total costs. 
(2006: 29%)

Criteria for direct and indirect costs

“Direct costs” are those costs directly attributable to an 
output activity.

“Indirect costs” are those costs which cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with a 
specific output activity.
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Financial instruments

The Authority is party to various financial instruments 
as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, short term 
deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial 
instruments are recognised in the “Statement of 
financial position” and all revenues and expenses in 
relation to financial instruments are recognised in the 
“Statement of financial performance”.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at their estimated 
realisable value after providing for doubtful and 
uncollectible debts.

Spare parts

Spare parts are valued at weighted average cost.

Investments

Short-term investments are deposited with registered 
New Zealand banks. Short-term investments are 
recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value.

Fixed assets

Land is valued by a registered valuer and is recorded at 
fair value. All other fixed assets are recorded at cost at 
the time of acquisition or creation.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis, at 
rates calculated to allocate the cost over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used 
in the preparation of these statements are as follows:

Lighthouses 10-40 years 2.5-10% straight line

Navigational aids 10-20 years 5-10.0% straight line

Plant and equipment 5-10 years 10-20% straight line

Motor vehicles 5 years 20.0% straight line

furniture, fittings and 
office equipment

5 years 20.0% straight line

Computer equipment  
& software

3-8 years 12.5-33.3% straight line

Leasehold 
improvements

2-9 years 11.1-50% straight line

While the policy is to depreciate lighthouses over  
40 years, all lighthouses were acquired by the Authority 
at the time of establishment and are depreciated over 
their estimated remaining useful life.

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised 
and depreciated over the unexpired period of the 
lease. Items under construction are not depreciated. 
The total cost of a capital project is transferred to the 
appropriate asset class on its completion and then 
depreciated.

EMPloYEE ENTITlEMENTs
Annual leave

Provision is made for annual leave payable to 
employees on the basis of statutory and contractual 
entitlements at current rates of pay.

Commitments

Commitments disclosed include those operating and 
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which 
the contingency is evident.

Statement of cash flows

Cash means cash balances on hand, held in bank 
accounts and demand deposits in which the Authority 
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments made 
for the supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt capital structure of the Authority.

chANGEs IN AccoUNTING 
PolIcIEs
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
including cost allocation policies since the date of the 
last audited financial statements. The policies have 
been applied on bases consistent with prior years.
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Statement of financial performance
For the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Crown revenue 7,963 8,016 8,515

Marine safety charges revenue 13,426 12,423 12,423

Other revenue 1 3,750 4,104 4,160

Interest revenue 457 370 374

Total operating revenue 25,596 24,913 25,472

Cost of services 2 25,529 24,982 25,490

Net operating surplus/(deficit) 67  (69)  (18)

Statement of movements in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2007

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Total equity as at 1 July 2006 8,946 9,311 7,664

Net surplus 67 (69) (18)

Increase in asset revaluation reserve 648 – –

Total recognised revenues & expenses for the year 715 (69) (18)

Capital contribution 2,385 2,385 1,300

total equity as at 30 June 2007 12,046 11,627 8,946

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

eQuItY

 Crown contribution 8,110 8,331 5,725

 Retained earnings 3,288 3,296 3,221

 Revaluation reserve 648 – –

total equity 12,046 11,627 8,946

Represented by:

Assets

Current assets

 Cash 837 4,008 1,068

 Short-term investments 3 2,789 – 2,903

 Receivables and prepayments 4 2,136 2,059 2,405

 Spare parts 291 230 272

Total current assets 6,053 6,297 6,648

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 5 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total non-current assets 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total assets 14,913 14,838 11,935

lIABIlItIes

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 6 2,104 2,409 2,292

 Employee entitlement provisions 7 763 802 697

Total current liabilities 2,867 3,211 2,989

Total liabilities 2,867 3,211 2,989

Net assets 12,046 11,627 8,946

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

cAsh flows from operAtINg ActIvItIes

Cash was received from:

 Crown funding 7.963 8,016 8,515

 Fees funding 16,336 16,789 16,024

 Other 1,062 – 1,403

 Interest received 463 367 362

 Net Goods and Services Tax – 148 –

25,824 25,320 26,304

Cash was applied to:

 Capital charge 518 570 424

 Payments to suppliers 12,229 12,216 13,563

 Personnel and related payments 11,066 10,684 10,124

 Net Goods and Services Tax 27 – 50

23,840 23,470 24,161

Net cash flow from operating activities 12 1,984 1,850 2,143

cAsh flows from INvestINg ActIvItIes

Cash was received from:

 Sale of fixed assets 120 – 39

 Investments 131 – –

251 – 39

Cash was applied to:

 Investments – 1,916

 Purchase of fixed assets 4,851 4,423 1,084

4,851 4,423 3,000

Net cash flow from investing activities (4,600) (4,423) (2,961)

cAshflows from fINANcINg ActIvItIes

 Capital contribution 2,385 2,385 1,300

Net cash flow from financing activities 2,385 2,385 1,300

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (231) (188) 482

Add opening balance 1,068 4,196 586

Closing cash balance 837 4,008 1,068

Represented by:

Cheque account 84 25 81

Petty cash 4 4 4

Call deposits 749 3,979 983

Closing cash balance 837 4,008 1,068

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of commitments
As at 30 June 2007

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

operAtINg commItmeNts Are As follows:

Accommodation leases

 Less than 1 year 548 682

 One year less than 2 years 982 923

 Two years less than 5 years 2,777 2,712

 Longer than 5 years 3,180 3,595

7,487 7,912

Non-accommodation leases

 Less than 1 year 32 10

 One year less than 2 years 32 10

 Two years less than 5 years 65 29

 Longer than 5 years 65 42

195 91

supplies of Goods and services

 Less than 1 year 3,063 2,803

 One year less than 2 years 2,868 2,578

 Two years less than 5 years 2,893 4,766

8,824 10,147

Total operating commitments 16,505 18,150

Total commitments 16,505 18,150

Statement of contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2007

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2007 (Nil at 30 June 2006).

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2007

NoTE 1: oThER REVENUE
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Seafarer licensing 191 160

Ship registration 132 123

Oil pollution recovery 2,236 2,334

Funding from Crown entities 946 1,082

user charges 85 86

Sponsorship 24 154

Bad debts recovered 23 23

Gain on sale of assets 44 26

Rental income – 24

Other income 69 148

3,750 4,160

NoTE 2: cosT oF sERVIcEs
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Personnel and related costs 11,013 10,076

Authority members’ fees 98 98

Professional and safety services 4,500 5,170

Operating 1,673 1,565

Rental and lease costs 850 720

Maintenance 969 1,061

Travel 1,141 1,188

Administration 971 887

Bad debts written-off 36 29

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful debts – (20)

Fees paid to auditors

 external audit 70 76

 other services – –

Marketing and public relations 1,389 1,476

Donations 12 11

Search costs 764 1,291

Capital charge 519 424

Depreciation 1,524 1,438

25,529 25,490

Note: $8,000 was paid to the auditors for an independent quality assurance review on Project Poseidon.  
 This amount has been capitalised.
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NoTE 3: INVEsTMENTs

As at 30 June 2007 term BANk rAte $000

mAturItY

6 July 2007 7 days Westpac 8.1% 477

6 July 2007 7 days ASB 8.0% 284

29 July 2007 30 days ASB 8.19% 206

30 July 2007 62 days BNZ 8.00% 500

28 August 2007 60 days ANZ 8.29% 1,018

27 September 2007 90 days Westpac 8.36% 304

2,789

As at 30 June 2006 term BANk rAte $000

mAturItY

10 July 2006 60 days ASB 7.46% 713

12 July 2006 14 days BNZ 7.35% 433

20 July 2006 21 days ASB 7.35% 300

27 July 2006 30 days BNZ 7.42% 204

27 July 2006 30 days Westpac 7.41% 203

28 July 2006 30 days BNZ 7.40% 403

26 August 2006 90 days ASB 7.49% 202

25 September 2006 90 days ANZ 7.48% 445

2,903

NoTE 4: REcEIVAblEs ANd PREPAYMENTs
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Trade debtors 1,510 1,581

Less provision for doubtful debts – (1)

Net trade receivables 1,510 1,580

Other accounts receivable 323 525

GST refundable 124 108

Prepayments 179 192

Total receivables and prepayments 2,136 2,405
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NoTE 5: FIxEd AssETs
cost

$000

Accum.
depN.

$000

Net Book
vAlue

$000

As At 30 JuNe 2007

Lighthouses 1,558 678 880

Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 2,049 1,661 388

Plant and equipment 8,516 6,488 2,028

Motor vehicles 705 250 455

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1,275 724 551

Computer equipment and software 4,186 2,294 1,892

Leasehold improvements 1,470 288 1,182

Land 648 – 648

work in progress:

 Computer equipment and software 836 – 836

Total work in progress 836 – 836

Total fixed assets 21,243 12,383 8,860

As At 30 JuNe 2006

Lighthouses 1,572 680 892

Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 1,805 1,555 250

Plant and equipment 8,418 5,749 2,669

Motor vehicles 895 371 524

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 792 655 137

Computer equipment and software 2,564 2,113 451

Leasehold improvements 363 208 155

work in progress:

 Motor vehicles 41 – 41

 Computer equipment and software 103 – 103

 Buoys, day beacons and navigational lights 65 – 65

Total work in progress 209 – 209

Total fixed assets 16,618 11,331 5,287

Land transferred from the MoT at no cost on the establishment of the Authority in 1993 has been revalued by a 
registered valuer and recorded at fair value.
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NoTE 6: PAYAblEs ANd AccRUAls
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Trade creditors 1,175 1,351

GST payable 9 20

Accrued expenses 920 921

Total 2,104 2,292

NoTE 7: EMPloYEE ENTITlEMENTs
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Current:

 Annual leave 577 560

 Salaries and wages 186 137

Total 763 697

NoTE 8: RElATEd PARTY TRANsAcTIoNs
The Authority undertakes transactions with government departments and other Crown entities. These 
transactions are carried out on arms length basis and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended 
scope of related party disclosures.

The Authority is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and in doing so incurs costs 
directly. These costs are recovered from the Fund. The amount of costs recovered in 2006/07 was $2,236,000 
($2,334,000 2005/06). The amount receivable at year end was $317,000 ($431,000 2005/06).

The Chairman is a director of Tower Limited. Tower Employee Benefits Limited, a subsidiary of Tower Limited, 
has been contracted to administer the MNZ employee superannuation scheme. The contract with Tower was 
entered into by MNZ prior to the Chairman becoming on authority member in July 1999. The total value of MNZ’s 
contribution in 2006/07 was $411,830 ($401,082 employer contribution plus $10,748 fees ($2,695 relates to 
fees incurred in 2005/06)). In 2005/06 MNZ’s contribution was $367,032 ($365,747 employer contributions plus 
$1,285 fees).
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NoTE 9: FINANcIAl INsTRUMENTs
Credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Authority to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of 
cash, deposits and accounts receivable. The Authority places its cash in fixed interest securities with major banks. 
Funds are invested in accordance with the investment powers under the Public Finance Act.

MNZ does not require any collateral or security to support financial instruments with financial institutions it  
deals with, as these entities have high credit ratings. For other financial instruments MNZ does not have  
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Authority, causing the Authority to incur  
a loss. The Authority incurs credit risk from accounts receivable in the normal course of its business.

Currency risk

The Authority has no currency risk, given that any financial instruments it dealt with during the year were in  
New Zealand dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Authority does not consider that there is any significant interest exposure on MNZ’s investments.

Fair value

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the financial statements.
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

NoTE 10: EMPloYEE REMUNERATIoN
During the year the number of employees who received remuneration and 
other benefits in excess of $100,000 are:

 NumBer of emploYees

ActuAl
2007

ActuAl
2006

totAl remuNerAtIoN ANd BeNefIts $

100,000 to 110,000 3 2

110,001 to 120,000 4 2

120,001 to 130,000 2 2

130,001 to 140,000 – 1

140,001 to 150,000 1 3

150,001 to 160,000 1 –

160,001 to 170,000 1 –

170,001 to 180,000 1 2

180,001 to 190,000 – –

190,001 to 200,000 1 –

200,001 to 210,000 1 –

260,001 to 270,000 – 1

Note: Remuneration includes employer’s contributions to superannuation and insurance schemes and at risk 
performance payments made during the year.

The Director of Maritime New Zealand’s remuneration is within the range of $260,001 to $270,000 band (range  
in 2005/06 was: $260,001 to $270,000). A new Director was appointed with effect from 1 December 2006.

During the financial year, one former employee of MNZ received $15,000 compensation on termination  
of employment.

NoTE 11: AUThoRITY FEEs
Authority members earned the following fees during the year:

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

memBer

Susie Staley (Chairman from December 2002) 33 33

David Morgan (Deputy Chairman from 1 July 2005) 21 21

Pauline Barratt (to 31 March 2006) 0 12

Ken Gilligan 16 16

Adrienne Young Cooper 16 16

Michael Ludbrook 12 –

98 98
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NoTE 12: REcoNcIlIATIoN oF NET sURPlUs FRoM oPERATIoNs wITh 
NET cAsh Flows FRoM oPERATING AcTIVITIEs

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Reported net operating surplus 67 (18)

Add/(deduct) non cash items:

 Depreciation 1,524 1,438

Total non-cash items 1,524 1,438

Add/(deduct) movements in working capital:

 (Increase)/decrease in spare parts (18) (4)

 (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 292 736

 Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions (419) 209

 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments 12 (18)

Working capital movements – net 112 923

Add/(deduct) investing activities:

 (Increase)/decrease in fixed asset accruals 570 (174)

 Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets (44) (26)

Total investing activity items 281 (200)

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,984 2,143

NoTE 13: MAJoR bUdGET VARIATIoNs
Marine Safety Charge

The international trend of fewer port visits by larger vessels continues. Revenue from container ships and 
international cruise vessels was greater than budget.

Other revenue

MNZ did not attract the budgeted level of sponsorship. As a result communication and marketing costs were 
curtailed. Funding from ACC to support the recreational boating safety campaign was lower than budget.

Interest revenue

Higher interest rates for the funds on investment are greater than budgeted.

Cost of services

The cost of services exceeded budget mainly from personnel, professional services and search costs. Personnel 
costs are higher because of additional recruitment costs. Professional services reflect increased regulatory activity. 
The level of expenditure incurred for search and rescue response asset hire was more than budget.
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

ToTAl REVENUE 2006/07

31% Crown revenue

52% Marine safety charges revenue

2% user charges

4% Crown agencies

8% Oil pollution recovery

1% Other

2% Interest income

cRowN REVENUE FoR
MARITIME REGUlATIoN ANd 
MoNIToRING bY oUTPUT

34% Government services

21% Communication and education

6% Monitoring and compliance services

22% Security services

17% Safety services and infrastructure

MARINE sAFETY chARGE REVENUE 
FoR MARITIME REGUlATIoN ANd 
MoNIToRING bY oUTPUT

10% Communication and education

54% Monitoring and compliance

36% Safety services and infrastructure
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oUTPUT clAss 1: MARITIME REGUlATIoN ANd MoNIToRING

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Crown revenue 4,689 4,742 4,631

Marine safety charges revenue 13,426 12,423 12,423

user charges 407 398 369

Crown agencies 946 1,047 1,046

Other 155 393 278

Interest income 387 250 267

Total operating revenue 20,010 19,253 19,014

Government services 1,523 1,652 1,049

Communication and education 2,914 2,784 3,672

Monitoring and compliance services 8,848 8,362 5,986

Security services 878 1,051 2,023

Safety services and infrastructure 5,325 5,404 6,103

Total expenditure 19,488 19,253 18,833

Net operating surplus 522 – 181

MARITIME REGUlATIoN ANd 
MoNIToRING ExPENdITURE
bY oUTPUT

8% Government services

15% Communication and education

45% Monitoring and compliance services

5% Security services

27% Safety services and infrustracture
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

oUTPUT clAss 2: MARITIME ENVIRoNMENT PRoTEcTIoN

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Oil pollution recovery 2,236 2,266 2,334

Other revenue 3 – 10

Crown agencies – – 36

Total operating revenue 2,239 2,266 2,380

Total expenditure 2,240 2,266 2,359

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (1) – 21

Note: All revenue derived from Oil Pollution Recovery.

oUTPUT clAss 3: sEARch ANd REscUE

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Crown revenue 3,274 3,274 3,884

Other revenue 3 – 86

Interest income 70 120 107

Total operating revenue 3,347 3,394 4,077

Total expenditure 3,801 3,463 4,298

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (454) (69) (221)
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

Segment reporting
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the RCCNZ, with MNZ’s traditional  
business activities.

From 1 July 2004, administration of the RCCNZ was transferred from the Civil Aviation Authority to MNZ. The 
additional financial Information provided in this section discloses RCCNZ’s financial activities and MNZ’s traditional 
business activities.

The search activity undertaken by RCCNZ can vary from year to year and may result in a financial deficit or 
surplus. The Performance Agreement between the Minister of Transport and MNZ acknowledges that the 
demand for search and rescue services cannot be accurately predicted and provides the opportunity for 
additional Crown funding to be obtained in these circumstances.

Statement of financial performance
For the year ended 30 June 2007

mArItIme NZ rccNZ group

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Crown revenue 4,689 4,742 4,631 3,274 3,274 3,884 7,963 8,016 8,515

Marine safety charges revenue 13,426 12,423 12,423 – – – 13,426 12,423 12,423

Other revenue 3,747 4,104 4,074 3 – 86 3,750 4,104 4,160

Interest income 387 250 267 70 120 107 457 370 374

total operating revenue 22,249 21,519 21,395 3,347 3,394 4,077 25,596 24,913 25,472

Personnel and related costs 9,637 9,288 8,698 1,376 1,439 1,378 11,013 10,727 10,076

Authority members fees 98 104 98 – – – 98 104 98

Professional and safety services 4,231 3,827 4,755 269 292 415 4,500 4,119 5,170

Operating 1,584 1,647 1,463 89 113 102 1,673 1,760 1,565

Rental and lease costs 796 790 643 54 54 77 850 844 720

Maintenance 924 1,017 1,044 45 42 17 969 1,059 1,061

Travel 1,094 998 1,133 47 66 55 1,141 1,064 1,188

Administration 869 791 842 102 117 45 971 908 887

Bad debts written-off 36 19 29 – – – 36 19 29

Provision for doubtful debts – –  (20) – – – – –  (20)

Fees paid to auditors 61 74 56 9 – 20 70 74 76

Marketing and public relations 1,386 1,695 1,473 3 17 3 1,389 1,712 1,476

Donations 12 10 11 – – – 12 10 11

Search costs – – – 764 366 1,291 764 366 1,291

Capital charge 379 404 308 140 167 116 519 571 424

Depreciation 1,170 1,311 1,124 354 334 314 1,524 1,645 1,438

Inter-group charges  (549)  (456)  (465) 549 456 465 – – –

Cost of services 21,728 21,519 21,192 3,801 3,463 4,298 25,529 24,982 25,490

Net  operating surplus/(deficit) 521 – 203  (454)  (69)  (221) 67  (69)  (18)

AddITIoNAl FINANcIAl INFoRMATIoN54

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



Statement of movements in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2007

mArItIme NZ rcc NZ group

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Total equity as at 1 July 2006 7,074 7,269 6,871 1,872 2,042 793 8,946 9,311 7,664

Net surplus 521 – 203 (454) (69) (221) 67 (69) (18)

Increase in asset  
revaluation reserve

648 – – – – – 648 – –

Total recognised revenues & 
expenses for the year

1,169 – 203 (454) (69) (221) 715 (69) (18)

Capital contribution 2,385 2,385 – – – 1,300 2,385 2,385 1,300

total equity as at  
30 June 2007 

10,628 9,654 7,074 1,418 1,973 1,872 12,046 11,627 8,946
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2007

mArItIme NZ rccNZ elImINAtIoNs group

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

eQuItY

Crown contribution 6,238 6,237 3,853 1,872 2,094 1,872 – – – 8,110 8,331 5,725 

Retained earnings 3,742 3,417 3,221 (454) (121) – – – – 3,288 3,296 3,221

Revaluation reserve 648 – – – – – – – – 648 0 0

total equity 10,628 9,654 7,074 1,418 1,973 1,872 – – – 12,046 11,627 8,946

Represented by:

Assets

Current assets

 Cash 663 2,615 836 304 1,393 232 – – – 967 4,008 1,068

 Short-term investments 2,505 – 2,200 154 – 703 – – – 2,659 – 2,903

 Receivables and prepayments 2,094 1,938 2,324 93 121 122 (51) – (41) 2,136 2,059 2,405

 Spare parts 291 230 272 – – – – – – 291 230 272

Total current assets 5,553 4,783 5,632 551 1,514 1,057 (51) – (41) 6,053 6,297 6,648

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 7,715 7,733 4,197 1,145 808 1,090 – – – 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total non-current assets 7,715 7,733 4,197 1,145 808 1,090 – – – 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total assets 13,268 12,516 9,829 1,696 2,322 2,147 – – – 14,913 14,838 11,935

lIABIlItIes

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 1,945 2,134 2,124 210 275 209 (51) – (41) 2,104 2,409 2,292

 Employee entitlement provision 695 728 631 68 74 66 – – – 763 802 697

Total current liabilities 2,640 2,862 2,755 278 349 275 (51) – (41) 2,867 3,211 2,989

Total liabilities 2,640 2,862 2,755 278 349 275 (51) – (41) 2,867 3,211 2,989

Net assets 10,628 9,654 7,074 1,418 1,973 1,872 – – – 12,046 11,627 8,946
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2007

mArItIme NZ rccNZ elImINAtIoNs group

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

eQuItY

Crown contribution 6,238 6,237 3,853 1,872 2,094 1,872 – – – 8,110 8,331 5,725 

Retained earnings 3,742 3,417 3,221 (454) (121) – – – – 3,288 3,296 3,221

Revaluation reserve 648 – – – – – – – – 648 0 0

total equity 10,628 9,654 7,074 1,418 1,973 1,872 – – – 12,046 11,627 8,946

Represented by:

Assets

Current assets

 Cash 663 2,615 836 304 1,393 232 – – – 967 4,008 1,068

 Short-term investments 2,505 – 2,200 154 – 703 – – – 2,659 – 2,903

 Receivables and prepayments 2,094 1,938 2,324 93 121 122 (51) – (41) 2,136 2,059 2,405

 Spare parts 291 230 272 – – – – – – 291 230 272

Total current assets 5,553 4,783 5,632 551 1,514 1,057 (51) – (41) 6,053 6,297 6,648

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 7,715 7,733 4,197 1,145 808 1,090 – – – 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total non-current assets 7,715 7,733 4,197 1,145 808 1,090 – – – 8,860 8,541 5,287

Total assets 13,268 12,516 9,829 1,696 2,322 2,147 – – – 14,913 14,838 11,935

lIABIlItIes

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 1,945 2,134 2,124 210 275 209 (51) – (41) 2,104 2,409 2,292

 Employee entitlement provision 695 728 631 68 74 66 – – – 763 802 697

Total current liabilities 2,640 2,862 2,755 278 349 275 (51) – (41) 2,867 3,211 2,989

Total liabilities 2,640 2,862 2,755 278 349 275 (51) – (41) 2,867 3,211 2,989

Net assets 10,628 9,654 7,074 1,418 1,973 1,872 – – – 12,046 11,627 8,946
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2007

mArItIme NZ rccNZ group

ACTUAL
2007
$000

BUDGET
2007
$000

ACTUAL
2006
$000

ACTUAL
2007
$000

BUDGET
2007
$000

ACTUAL
2006
$000

ACTUAL
2007
$000

BUDGET
2007
$000

ACTUAL
2006
$000

cAsh flows from operAtINg ActIvItIes          

Cash was received from:    

Crown funding 4,689 4,742 4,631 3,274 3,274 3,884 7,963 8,016 8,515

Fees and charges 16,336 15,330 16,024 – – – 16,336 15,330 16,024

Other 1,059 1,459 1,346 3 – 57 1,062 1,459 1,403

Interest received 393 249 256 70 118 106 463 367 362

Net GST 0 184 – – – – – 184 –

22,477 21,964 22,257 3,347 3,392 4,047 25,824 25,356 26,304

Cash was applied to:    

Capital charge 378 403 308 140 167 116 518 570 424

Payments to suppliers 10,319 10,334 10,665 1,910 1,882 2,898 12,229 12,216 13,563

Personnel and related payments 9,696 9,257 8,783 1,370 1,427 1,341 11,066 10,684 10,124

Net GST 16 – 52 11 36  (2) 27 36 50

 20,409 19,994 19,808 3,431 3,512 4,353 23,840 23,506 24,161

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,068 1,970 2,449  (84)  (120)  (306) 1,984 1,850 2,143

cAsh flows from INvestINg ActIvItIes          

Cash was received from:    

Sales of fixed assets 120 – 34 – – 5 120 – 39

Investments – – – 436 – – 436 – –

120 – 34 436 – 5 556 – 39

Cash was applied to:    

Investments 305 212 1,213 – 148 703 305 360 1,916

Purchase of fixed assets 4,441 3,811 805 410 252 279 4,851 4,063 1,084

 4,746 4,023 2,018 410 400 982 5,156 4,423 3,000

Net cash flow from investing activities
 

(4,626)  (4,023)  (1,984) 26  (400)  (977)  (4,600)
 

(4,423)  (2,961)

cAsh flows from fINANcINg ActIvItIes          

Capital contribution 2,385 2,385 – – – 1,300 2,385 2,385 1,300

Net cash flow from financing activities 2,385 2,385 – – – 1,300 2,385 2,385 1,300

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (173) 332 465 (58)  (520) 17  (231)  (188) 482

ADD opening cash 836 2,283 371 232 1,913 215 1,068 4,196 586

Closing cash balance 663 2,615 836 174 1,393 232 837 4,008 1,068

Cheque account 80 20 79 4 5 2 84 25 81

Petty cash 4 4 4 – – – 4 4 4

Call deposits 579 2,591 753 170 1,388 230 749 3,979 983

Closing cash balance 663 2,615 836 174 1,393 232 837 4,008 1,068
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bAckGRoUNd
In December 2002, New Zealand’s accounting 
standard-setting bodies announced a significant 
change to financial reporting standards. For periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2007, New Zealand 
reporting entities are required to apply New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZ IFRS). Entities have the option of  
early adoption for periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2005.

Maritime New Zealand (the Authority) and the  
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) adopted  
NZ IFRS on 1 July 2007 with the financial statements 
for 30 June 2008 being the first reported under  
NZ IFRS.

MANAGEMENT oF ThE  
TRANsITIoN To NZ IFRs
The Authority has undertaken the following tasks in 
compliance with the transition to the New Zealand 
equivalents to International Reporting Standards  
(NZ IFRS).

Identified all major accounting policy differences  ■

between current GAAP and NZ IFRS.

Completed a review of systems and processes  ■

and implemented changes necessary to produce 
financial and non-financial information required 
under NZ IFRS.

MAJoR chANGEs IN  
AccoUNTING PolIcIEs
A review of NZ IFRS has identified the following major 
changes in accounting policies that impact on the 
Authority financial statements.

1. Property, plant and equipment  
NZ IFRS requires property, plant and equipment 
recorded at fair value or elect to apply the deemed 

cost exemption under NZ IFRS 1 First-time adoption 
of NZ IFRS. The Authority has applied the deemed 
cost exemption to its plant and equipment. under 
this exemption, the Authority is allowed to use 
the carrying values of plant and equipment under 
current reporting as deemed cost.

2. intangible assets  
NZ IFRS requires separate disclosure of Intangible 
assets from property, plant and equipment. 
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary 
assets without physical substance that are held for 
their own use. Examples of intangible assets include 
computer software. Approximately $1,363,000 for 
the Authority and $5,600 for the Fund of software 
classified as Computer equipment and Software will 
be reclassified to intangible assets.

3. Hedge accounting – cash flow hedges 
On adopting NZ IFRS, all derivates held at transition 
date are to be recognised in the financial statements 
and measured at fair value. The Authority and the 
Fund use forward exchange contracts to hedge 
their exposure to foreign currency purchases over 
$20,000 NZD. Forward exchange contracts are 
defined as cash flow hedges and are classified 
as derivatives under NZ IFRS. To obtain hedge 
accounting for derivatives under NZ IFRS there 
are specific requirements for designation, 
documentation and effectiveness testing. If 
the requirements of a cash flow hedge cannot 
be achieved, all changes in fair value must be 
recognised directly through the income statement.  
If the requirements can be met then changes in  
the fair value can be recorded through a reserve  
in equity.

Impact of adopting the New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) from 
2007/08
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sTATEMENT oF sERVIcE PERFoRMANcE

Output Class 1:  
Maritime regulation and monitoring
This output class involves the delivery of a number of safety and security related services that contribute directly 
towards the Authority’s vision of achieving a maritime environment with minimal deaths, accidents and incidents 
as part of an integrated and sustainable transport system. This output class also contributes to the sector 
outcomes of promoting a maritime environment that takes responsibility for its safety, and reducing its impact in 
terms of fatalities, injuries, harm to health and compliance with the maritime regulatory framework.

under this output class, MNZ provides the following outputs:

government services ■

communication and education ■

maritime operations and services ■

security services ■

safety services and infrastructure. ■

oUTPUT 1.1: GoVERNMENT sERVIcEs
Description: Meeting all reporting obligations and contributing to a whole of government approach, contributing 
to the objectives and priorities of the NZTS and advising on technical maritime safety policy. Responsible for 
administering international obligations of the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and other international 
maritime agreements listed in Schedule Two of the Output Agreement with the Minister of Transport.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

14 Replies to ministerial correspondence 16 30-40

53 Reports to the Minister 54 60-70

63 Replies to Parliamentary questions 32 35-45

QuAlItY

100% Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial correspondence and 
answers to parliamentary questions accepted by the Ministry  
of Transport on first submission

100% 90%

tImelINess

98% Percentage of draft replies to Ministerial correspondence 
forwarded to the Ministry of Transport within 10 business  
days from the time of receipt by MNZ 

100% 100%

100% Reports to the Minister and answers to parliamentary questions 
within timeframes specified by the Minister’s Office/the Ministry 
of Transport

100% 100%

$1,049,000 cost: $1,523,000 $1,652,000
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oUTPUT 1.2: coMMUNIcATIoNs ANd EdUcATIoN
Description: Building strong stakeholder partnerships, providing educational advice to promote awareness and 
acceptance of safety, security and environmental standards and best practice.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

8 Number of active strategic partnership groups 8 8

New measure Number of proactive workplace interventions conducted, eg 
visits to inform, advise, promote, survey and assess

743 750

QuAlItY

46% Percentage of stakeholders either satisfied or extremely 
satisfied with MNZ’s willingness to take industry feedback  
into account

– 14 60%

67% Percentage of stakeholders either satisfied or extremely 
satisfied with the information and advice provided by MNZ 
about understanding and complying with rules relating to 
safety, security and environmental standards

– 14 75%

89% Percentage of people who recall boating safety advertisements 
(as gauged by survey)

82.5% 90%

tImelINess

New measure Percentage availability of media line Achieved 24/7 availability

100% Percentage of publications completed by scheduled due date 100% 100%

$3,672,000 cost: $2,914,000 $2,784,000

Commentary on performance

In this year communication programmes were consolidated and enhanced, and an exciting new programme – 
FishSAFE – was introduced. A similar safety education package for small passenger/charter boats was  
developed during the year and will be implemented in 2007/08, as will new guidelines for boat owners  
developing SSM plans.

Improved resourcing of the rules programme and greater emphasis on pre-rules consultation has been 
introduced, to ensure that all is being done to promote effective stakeholder input (see measure two above).

14 A survey was not undertaken in the 2006/07 financial year. The target is for a 3 year period and this is the second year of the period being measured.
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oUTPUT 1.3: MoNIToRING ANd coMPlIANcE
Description: Setting, monitoring and enforcing safety, security and marine pollution prevention standards and 
guidelines under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 and the 
Maritime Security Act 2004. The investigation of accidents, incidents and mishaps. Maintaining the New Zealand 
Register of Ships and issuing licences and permits.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

New measure Number and percentage of flag state inspections 15 (107%) 14 (100%)

New measure Number and percentage of risk assessments of SSM vessels15 1,002 (17%)16 750 (25%)

760 Number of ship registration transactions 716 800 – 100017

New measure Number of TAIC safety report recommendations responded to 
within 4 weeks

4 (100%) 90%

QuAlItY

New measure Percentage of initial audits of SSM vessels carried out within 
3-month exemption period

89% 75%

New measure Percentage of classification societies audited to ensure 
compliance with international requirements

5 (100%) 100%

99% Percentage of eligible port state vessels, as determined by the 
Tokyo Mou targeting factor, which are inspected

92% 80%

New measure Percentage of commercial rafting and jet boating  
operations audited

99% 100%

100% Percentage of prosecutions, undertaken to enforce the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994 and the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act 1992, which are successful

80% 75%

New measure Percentage of Class A accident investigations completed  
and reported within 6 months where no prosecution has  
been initiated

40% 75%

tImelINess

New measure Percentage of corrective actions from initial audits of SSM 
vessels closed out within agreed timeframes

99% 95%

New measure Number of corrective actions, produced from audits of SSM 
companies, closed out within timelines agreed between MNZ 
and the SSM company

33%18 100%

New measure Maritime and marine protection rules developed in accordance 
with the programme agreed with the Minister, or with variations 
agreed with MoT

Achieved Rules contract 
adhered to

$8,009,000 cost: $8,848,000 $8,362,000

Commentary on performance

Class A accident investigations, involving fatalities, serious harm injuries and material damage to a ship, currently 
represent about 10% of all investigations that are conducted by MNZ. This output measure has not been met 
due to a combination of the investigations being highly technical in nature; the need to involve substantial external 
expertise and attempts to reconcile conflicting witness evidence.

The number of completed corrective actions arising from audits of SSM companies was only 33% of the target 
set for the year. A total of 22 non-conformities arising from the audit of two SSM companies still remained to 
be cleared by year end. Delay in clearing a majority of these non-conformities was compounded by the serious 
illness of one of the SSM Directors responsible for overseeing their quality management procedures for their 

15 Risk assessments are carried out by maritime safety inspectors when they visit a vessel.

16 The actual population of vessels liable for risk assessments (5,894) was substantially more than the 3,000 vessels allowed for in the 2006/07 target.

17 This figure is demand driven, and not a target to be reached.

18 Refer to paragraph two of the commentary on performance for further details.
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company. Due to the nature of the non-conformities identified, MNZ decided it would be prudent to personally 
visit the companies concerned to provide assistance in addressing the problems encountered. In the interim, 
MNZ has withdrawn its delegated power entrusted to the SSM companies concerned until MNZ is satisfied that 
the non conformities identified have been satisfactorily resolved.

The 2006/07 maritime and marine protection rules programmes were progressed in accordance with MoT agreed 
timeframes. Four maritime rules were sent to MoT for approval to release for comment; two rules were released 
for public consultation and two rules signed and another waiting to be signed by the Minister. Four marine 
protection rules were progressed, one to final draft and three released for public consultation.

New initiatives progress during the year included the development of SSM guidelines for operators of commercial 
ships under 24 m and the development of sector specific fatigue management guidelines. The Cook Straight  
ferry review was completed and an action plan developed to implement the 24 recommendations flowing from 
that review.

oUTPUT 1.4: sEcURITY sERVIcEs
Description: Implementing and monitoring the International Ship and Port Security (ISPS) Code.  
Responding to alerts, investigating and reviewing maritime security breaches and incidents.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

New measure Number of security inspections of ships and ports per annum 8 ports

Nil ships

20 ports19

4 ships20

1,991 Number of ships risk profiled 372 All foreign vessels 
(estimated 1600)

QuAlItY

New measure Percentage of intelligence and risk products delivered to  
the satisfaction of national and international clients

100%21 100%

tImelINess

100% Percentage of non-compliances identified by ports closed out 
within agreed timeframes

100% 100%

$1,027,000 cost: $878,000 $1,051,000

Commentary on performance

The eight port security inspections undertaken during 2006/07 were less than the targeted 14, due to a number 
of unanticipated staff vacancies.

The security analyst position which is responsible for carrying out risk profiling of foreign vessels was vacant 
for the majority of the 2006/07 year and consequently the actual vessels profiled fell considerably short of the 
intended target. This meant that any vessels that arrived in New Zealand during this period that were not ISPS 
compliant would have gone undetected. The Customs Department (National Targeting Centre) did provide a 
limited profiling capability during this period, which minimised the New Zealand maritime security risk.

New initiatives progressed during the year included MNZ participation in a series of domestic Proliferation Security 
Initiative (PSI) Industry Outreach presentations around major New Zealand air and sea ports of entry. The aim 
of these presentations was to inform key manufacturing, transport and scientific sector professionals on how 
they can best assist New Zealand’s PSI efforts. MNZ also contributed to the first New Zealand meeting of the 
international PSI Operational Expert’s Group (OEG).

19 Only 14 ports can practically be inspected under Section 18 of the Maritime Security Act 2006. This measure has been amended in the 2007/08 output agreement.

20 New Zealand coastal ships are excluded from the security inspection regime and were not inspected in 2006/07. This measure has been amended in the 2007/08 output agreement.

21 Satisfaction is measured on the basis that no negative feedback is received on products delivered.
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oUTPUT 1.5: sAFETY sERVIcEs ANd INFRAsTRUcTURE
Description: Providing distress and safety communication systems and services, and aids to navigation.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

139

Maintenance and inspection of navigational aids to ensure 
correct functioning 140

All navigation aids 
inspected (142)

QuAlItY

99.9% Availability levels of lighthouses 99.9% 99.8%

99.9% Availability levels of day beacons 100% 97%

99.9% Availability levels of floating aids (buoys) 100% 97%

New measure Radio coverage availability in high maritime traffic areas 99.9% 99.9%

New measure Provision of a 24/7 Distress and Safety Radio Service Service provided Service provided

New measure Radio coverage availability in low maritime traffic areas 99.93% 99%

New measure Percentage of third party radio providers with appropriate 
agreements in place

100% 100%

$5,076,000 cost: $5,325,000 $5,404,000

Commentary on performance

New initiatives progressed during the year included the installation of a replacement lighthouse monitoring system 
on 27 sites. The new monitoring system reports data via a web-based server and alarms sent via email and 
text messaging. This project is under budget and will be completed in late 2007. An upgraded radio network 
for the Chatham Islands became operational during the year. Completion of this project means that mariners in 
the Chatham Islands will now have direct access (via Channel 16) to the Maritime Operations Centre located in 
Avalon, Lower Hutt enhancing co-ordination of rescue efforts in the Chatham Island region.
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Output Class 2:  
Marine environment protection
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver marine oil pollution spill response services that contribute directly 
towards the Authority’s vision of achieving a maritime environment with minimal pollution as part of an integrated 
and sustainable transport system. This output class also contributes to the sector outcomes of promoting a 
maritime community that is reducing its negative impacts in terms of the human and natural environments.

oUTPUT 2.1: MARINE ENVIRoNMENT REsPoNsE cAPAbIlITY
Description: Ensuring New Zealand’s operational preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil spills.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

90 Number of reported oil and non-oil spills 93 Reducing trends 
from year  
to year22

QuAlItY

Achieved Oil Spill Preparedness Index23  Achieved  “Green” 
response level

New measure
Provision of Tier 2 or Tier 3 spill responses that ensured 
environmental damage was minimised

89% 90%

tImelINess

Achieved
Provision of a 24 hour/7 day a week advice and  
response capability

Achieved Service provided

New measure Timely activation of a response to Tier 2 and Tier 3 spills Achieved Within 2 hours of 
notification

$2,359,000 cost: $2,240,000 $2,266,000

Commentary on performance

During the year there was a slight increase in reported operational oil spills, with 93 reported during the year 
compared to the 90 reported in 2005/06 and 108 reported in 2004/05. Where the size of the spill was known 
63% were under 0.1 tonne. There were no Tier 3 oil spill responses required during the year.

New initiatives progressed during the year included the release of the 2006 Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy 
and a review of the risk assessment on the environmental impact of cruise ships visiting Fiordland. In addition, 
three of MNZ’s oil pollution response team members provided assistance to the Australian Maritime Safety 
Authority, following the grounding of the Pasha bulker in Newcastle, Australia.

 

22 There is not necessarily a relationship between the number of spills and the volume of oil spilled. For this reason, although a reduction in the number of spills is expected, a specific target level  
of reduction has not been set.

23 This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil spills are at the optimum level specified in the National Strategy. Preparedness is 
 reported based on a “Green” (able to respond), “Amber” (able to respond in most circumstances) and “Red” (not able to respond) assessment.
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Output Class 3: Class III search  
and rescue operations
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver Class III SAR operations that contribute directly towards the Authority’s 
vision of achieving a maritime environment with minimal deaths, accidents and incidents as part of an integrated 
and sustainable transport system.

This output class also contributes to the sector outcomes of improving the maritime sector’s ability to recover 
quickly and effectively from adverse events, and reducing its impact in terms of fatalities, injuries and harm  
to health. This output class also covers the delivery of operations in relation to aviation and land Class III  
SAR operations.

oUTPUT 3.1: sEARch ANd REscUE co-oRdINATIoN cAPAbIlITY
Description: Provision in the New Zealand SAR Region of 24/7 co-ordination services for Class III land, sea and 
air SAR operations. Provide an immediate response to all notified distress alerts within the New Zealand SAR 
region, to co-ordinate searches to locate persons in distress, and render appropriate assistance to ensure the 
safety of all persons concerned.

ActuAl 2005/06 performANce meAsure ActuAl 2006/07 tArget 2006/07

QuANtItY

1,365 Number of SAR incidents responded to 1,219 900–1,200

New measure Percentage of successful searches or recoveries once the 
target was located

100% 85%24

2 Number of tabletop exercises conducted25 2 2

QuAlItY

100% Minimum of one fully trained search and rescue officer in the 
operations room

100% 100%

100% Minimum of two fully trained search and rescue officers  
on watch

100% 100%

99% Percentage availability levels of local user terminals 100% 95%26

66% Percentage of the SAR community satisfied or very satisfied 
with RCCNZ services based on independent customer survey

–27 85%

100%
Percentage of SAR operations carried out in accordance with 
operating procedures

100%28 100%

tImelINess

New measure
Percentage of “significant” incident debriefs held SAR sector-
wide within 6 weeks of incident concluding

100% 100%

New measure Percentage of continuous improvement opportunities identified 
through debriefs implemented within agreed timeframes

80% 100%

4,298,000 cost: $3,801,000 $3,463,000

24 Locating the target during a search is not always straightforward or within the control of the RCCNZ. Issues may include late notification of a missing vessel, false alerts or an inability to locate a missing 
aircraft because of the terrain, and/or lost at sea.

25 A tabletop exercise is one in which a scenario is responded to within an operations centre, but no actual external resources are deployed.

26 This is an accepted international standard.

27 A survey was not undertaken in the 2006/07 financial year. The target is for a three year period and this is the second year of the period being measured.

28 This measure is based on a sample of incident reports reviewed throughout the year. All major incidents are automatically reveiwed to ensure operating procedures have been followed.
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Commentary on performance

The 1,219 SAR incidents responded to during 2006/07 exceeded the target range set for the year of 900 to 
1,200; although this was 10.7% below last year’s figure of 1,365.

The independent survey undertaken by MNZ during the year was taken at a time when RCCNZ was in its infancy. 
Since that time RCCNZ has worked extensively with its stakeholders and with the New Zealand SAR community 
in general. The expectation is that this result will show a marked improvement when the survey is again repeated.

New initiatives progressed during the year included the completion of version 4 of the RCCNZ Standard 
Operating Procedures, to accommodate situations where a private search has been initiated in tandem with a 
search being conducted by RCCNZ. Work is also continuing with the MoT to determine the impacts and business 
objectives that RCCNZ will work towards in future years.
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APPENdIcEs

Appendix One:  
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund  
Financial statements
chAIRMAN’s REPoRT

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

The Fund is comprised of levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil installations  
and pipelines. The levy is risk-based to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and 
types of oil.

A five-year forecast and an annual budget is endorsed by the Oil Pollution Advisory Committee (OPAC) for 
consideration by the Authority, which in turn, recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by  
the Minister of Transport.

The accumulated monies in the Fund and the on-going annual contributions from levies are applied, in 
accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine  
oil pollution response system for New Zealand.

Susie Staley
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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Statement of responsibility
The preparation of financial statements and the statement of service performance of the New Zealand Oil 
Pollution Fund and the judgements used herein are the responsibility of the Authority members and management 
and have been prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.

The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable assurance  
as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and the statement of service performance for the year 
ended 30 June 2007 is the responsibility of the Authority members and management.

In the opinion of the Authority members and management the financial statements and the statement of  
service performance for the year ended 30 June 2007 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of  
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.

Susie Staley dave Morgan
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Date 31 October 2007 Date 31 October 2007
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AUdIT REPoRT

To the readers of the 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s 
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2007

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the 
fi nancial statements of the Fund on his behalf for the year ended 30 June 2007.

Unqualifi ed opinion

In our opinion:

The fi nancial statements of the Fund on pages 76 to 85: ■

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and ■

fairly refl ect: ■

the Fund’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2007; and ■

the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. ■

The audit was completed on 31 October 2007 and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and the 
Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in 
order to obtain reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements did not have material misstatements, whether 
caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s 
overall understanding of the fi nancial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, 
we would have referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the fi nancial. We assessed the 
results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

determining whether signifi cant fi nancial and management controls are working and can be relied on to  ■

produce complete and accurate data

verifying samples of transactions and account balances ■

performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data ■
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reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Board ■

confirming year-end balances ■

determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied ■

determining whether all financial statement disclosures are adequate. ■

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. We obtained all 
the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board and the Auditor

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Fund as at 
30 June 2007 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. The Board’s 
responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 2004 which requires the financial statements of the Fund to 
form part of the financial reports of Maritime New Zealand.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion 
to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which 
incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund.

John O’Connell 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements and statement 
of service performance

This audit report relates to the financial statements and the statement of service performance of Maritime 
New Zealand (Maritime NZ) for the year ended 30 June 2007 included on Maritime NZ’s web site. Maritime 
NZ’s Board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Maritime NZ’s web site. We have not been 
engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime NZ’s web site. We accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements and the statement of service performance since they 
were initially presented on the web site.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements and the statement of service performance named 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from 
these financial statements and the statement of service performance. If readers of this report are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published 
hard copy of the audited financial statements and statement of service performance and related audit 
report dated 31 October 2007 to confirm the information included in the audited financial statements and 
statement of service performance presented on this web site.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of accounting policies
For the year ended 30 June 2007

REPoRTING ENTITY
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has 
been established by MNZ pursuant to section 330 of 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

The purpose of the Fund is to meet the ongoing costs 
of maintaining New Zealand’s marine oil spill response 
capability, including contingency plans, equipment and 
training and response costs where they are unable 
to be recovered from the spiller. Levies imposed on 
shipping and oil sites are paid into the fund to finance 
these costs.

While the financial statements of the Fund form part 
of the financial reports of the Authority, they are 
presented separately in order to clearly identify the 
income and expenditure associated with MNZ’s oil 
pollution response activities.

The financial statements of the Fund have been 
prepared in accordance with Section 330 (7) of the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994.

MEAsUREMENT bAsE
The measurement base applied is historical cost.  
The accrual basis of accounting has been used.  
These financial statements are presented in  
New Zealand dollars.

AccoUNTING PolIcIEs
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The financial statements are prepared on a GST 
exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts 
receivable and accounts payable which are stated with 
GST included. Where GST is irrecoverable as an input 
tax, then it is recognised as part of the related asset  
or expense.

Taxation

The Fund is a public authority in terms of the Income 
Tax Act 1994 and consequently is exempt from 
income tax.

Budget figures

The budget figures are those approved by the Minister 
of Transport at the beginning of the financial year. The 
budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the 
Fund for the preparation of the financial statements.

Revenue

The Fund earns revenue from interest on investments 
and levies to third parties for the provision of services. 
Such revenue is recognised when earned and is 
reported in the financial period to which it relates.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the financial period to 
which they relate.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments, where the lessors 
effectively retain substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the leased item, are charged as an 
expense in the period in which they relate.

Financial instruments

The Oil Pollution Fund of New Zealand is party to 
various financial instruments as part of its normal 
operations. These financial instruments include 
bank accounts, short-term deposits, debtors and 
creditors. All financial instruments are recognised in 
the “Statement of financial position” and all revenues 
and expenses in relation to financial instruments are 
recognised in the “Statement of financial performance”.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at their estimated 
realisable value after providing for doubtful and 
uncollectible debts.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at weighted average cost.
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Investments

Short-term investments are deposited with registered 
New Zealand banks. Short-term investments are 
recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost at the time of 
acquisition or creation.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis, at 
rates calculated to allocate the cost over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates 
used in the preparation of these statements are  
as follows:

Plant and equipment 5-30 years 3.3-20% straight line

Motor vehicles 5 years 20.0% straight line

furniture, fittings and  
office equipment

5 years 20.0% straight line

Computer equipment  
and software

3 years 33.3% straight line

Leasehold improvements 2.3-3.3 years 30.3-43.5% straight line

Vessels 5-25 years 4-20% straight line

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised  
and depreciated over the unexpired period of the 
lease. Items under construction are not depreciated. 
The total cost of a capital project is transferred to  
the appropriate asset class on its completion and  
then depreciated.

Commitments

Commitments disclosed include those operating and 
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which 
the contingency is evident.

sTATEMENT oF cAsh Flows
Cash means cash balances on hand, held in bank 
accounts and demand deposits in which the Fund 
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Operating activities include cash received from all 
income sources and records the cash payments made 
for the supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and 
debt capital structure of the Fund.

chANGEs IN AccoUNTING 
PolIcIEs
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
including cost allocation policies since the date of the 
last audited financial statements. The policies have 
been applied on bases consistent with prior years.
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Statement of financial performance
For the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

 Oil pollution levies 2,744 2,576 2,550

 Other revenue 1 205 36 68

 Interest income 495 480 513

Total operating revenue 3,444 3,092 3,131

 Operating expenditure 2 3,546 3,860 3,580

 Depreciation 3 332 407 303

 Oil spill response 40 70 23

Total operating expenditure 3,918 4,337 3,906

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (474) (1,245) (775)

Statement of movements in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2007

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Net operating surplus/(deficit) (474) (1,245) (775)

Total recognised revenues and expenses for the year (474) (1,245) (775)

Total equity as at 1 July 2006 11,571 11,315 12,346

total equity as at 30 June 2007 11,097 10,070 11,571

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

eQuItY

Crown contribution 11,097 10,070 11,571

total equity 11,097 10,070 11,571

Represented by:

Assets

Current assets

 Cash 525 523 388

 Short-term investments 4 6,133 5,287 6,565

 Receivables 5 77 150 152

 Inventories 905 978 949

Total current assets 7,640 6,938 8,054

Non-current assets

 Fixed assets 6 4,371 4,082 4,473

Total non-current assets 4,371 4,082 4,473

Total assets 12,011 11,020 12,527

lIABIlItIes

Current liabilities

 Accounts payable 7 914 950 956

total current liabilities 914 950 956

total liabilities 914 950 956

Net assets 11,097 10,070 11,571

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

ActuAl
2007
$000

Budget
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

cAsh flows from operAtINg ActIvItIes

Cash was received from:

 Fees and charges 2,743 2,582 2,999

 Other 187 – 68

 Interest received 489 480 561

 Net Goods and Services Tax 83 – 1

3,502 3,062 3,629

Cash was applied to:

 Payments to suppliers 3,506 3,810 3,668

 Oil spill response 40 70 23

 Net Goods and Services Tax – – –

3,546 3,530 3,691

Net cash flow from operating activities 10 (45) (818) (62)

cAsh flows from INvestINg ActIvItIes

Cash was received from:

 Sale of fixed assets 18 – 7

 Investments 432 953 694

450 953 701

Cash was applied to:

 Purchase of fixed assets 268 135 541

268 135 541

Net cash flow from investing activities 182 818 160

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 137 – 98

Add opening cash 388 523 290

Closing cash balance 525 523 388

Cheque account 7 5 52

Call deposits 518 518 336

Closing cash balance 525 523 388

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of commitments
As at 30 June 2007

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Capital commitments are as follows:

 Less than one year 318 325

 One year less than 2 years 21 31

Total operating commitments 339 356

Total commitments 339 356

Statement of contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2007

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2007 (Nil at 30 June 2006).

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2007

NoTE 1: oThER REVENUE
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Oil spill recoveries – 27

Bad debts recovered 1 1

Gain on sale of assets 18 –

Equipment hire 27 27

Other income 159 13

205 68

NoTE 2: oPERATING ExPENdITURE
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Costs recovered by MNZ 2,236 2,334

Regional Council costs 892 859

Professional services 326 326

Maintenance 18 34

Cost of goods sold 51 9

Administration 14 16

Bad debts written-off 1 –

(Decrease)/increase in provision for doubtful debts – (5)

Fees paid to auditors

 external audit 8 7

3,546 3,580

NoTE 3: dEPREcIATIoN
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Plant and equipment 235 224

Vessels 31 20

Motor vehicles 31 19

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1 3

Computer equipment and software 17 20

Leasehold improvements 17 17

332 303
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NoTE 4: INVEsTMENTs

As at 30 June 2007 term BANk rAte $000

mAturItY

17 July 2007 90 days ASB 7.96% 629

30 July 2007 32 days Westpac 8.20% 900

30 July 2007 91 days Westpac 8.06% 240

20 July 2007 30 days BNZ 8.14% 191

16 August 2007 90 days ANZ 8.09% 1,282

29 August 2007 90 days NBNZ 8.15% 1,090

26 September 2007 90 days NBNZ 8.35% 238

16 October 2007 120 days ASB 8.39% 963

23 October 2007 120 days Westpac 8.38% 600

6,133

As at 30 June 2006 term BANk rAte $000

mAturItY

7 July 2006 30 days NBNZ 7.41% 1,054

14 July 2006 60 days ASB 7.46% 515

14 July 2006 14 days BNZ 7.35% 160

21 July 2006 21 days BNZ 7.35% 200

28 July 2006 60 days Westpac 7.44% 810

28 July 2006 90 days BNZ 7.48% 250

22 August 2006 60 days ASB 7.46% 894

22 August 2006 90 days ASB 7.49% 629

28 August 2006 91 days BNZ 7.46% 200

18 September 2006 91 days ANZ 7.47% 1,249

26 September 2006 120 days Westpac 7.49% 428

27 September 2006 90 days ANZ 7.48% 176

6,565

NoTE 5: REcEIVAblEs ANd PREPAYMENTs
ActuAl

2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Trade debtors 17 5

Less provision for doubtful debts – –

Net trade debtor 17 5

Other accounts receivable 39 43

GST refundable 21 104

total receivables and prepayments 77 152
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NoTE 6: FIxEd AssETs

cost
$000

Accum.
depN.

$000

Net Book
vAlue

$000

As At 30 JuNe 2007

Plant and equipment 9,159 5,353 3,806

Vessels 454 78 376

Motor vehicles 330 182 148

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 92 89 3

Computer equipment and software 72 65 7

Leasehold improvements 40 36 4

work in progress:

 Computer equipment and software 27 – 27

Total work in progress 27 – 27

total 10,174 5,803 4,371

As At 30 JuNe 2006

Plant and equipment 9,027 5,118 3,909

Vessels 453 47 406

Motor vehicles 279 198 81

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 92 87 5

Computer equipment and software 72 48 24

Leasehold improvements 40 19 21

work in progress:

 Computer equipment and software 27 – 27

Total work in progress 27 – 27

total 9,990 5,517 4,473

NoTE 7: PAYAblEs ANd AccRUAls

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Trade creditors 266 401

Accrued expenses 648 555

total 914 956

NoTE 8: RElATEd PARTY TRANsAcTIoNs
The Fund undertakes transactions with government departments and other Crown entities. These transactions 
are carried out on an arm’s length basis and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended scope of 
related party disclosures.

MNZ is responsible for administering the Fund. The costs relating to this administration have been paid to the 
Authority on a cost recovery basis. These costs amounted to $2,236,000 ($2,334,000 2005/06). The amount 
payable at year end was $317,000 ($431,000 2005/06).
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NoTE 9: FINANcIAl INsTRUMENTs
Credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Fund to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of 
cash, deposits and accounts receivable. The Fund places its cash in fixed interest securities with major banks. 
Funds are invested in accordance with the investment powers under the Public Finance Act.

The Oil Pollution Fund does not require any collateral or security to support financial instruments with financial 
institutions it deals with, as these entities have high credit ratings. For its other financial instruments, the Fund 
does not have significant concentrations of credit risk.

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Fund, causing the Fund to incur a loss. 
The Fund incurs credit risk from Accounts Receivable in the normal course of its business.

Currency risk

The Fund had no currency risk, given that any financial instruments it dealt with during the year were in  
New Zealand dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Fund does not consider that there is any significant interest exposure on the Fund’s investments.

Fair value

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the financial statements.

NoTE 10: REcoNcIlIATIoN oF NET sURPlUs FRoM oPERATIoNs  
wITh NET cAsh Flows FRoM oPERATING AcTIVITIEs

ActuAl
2007
$000

ActuAl
2006
$000

Reported net operating surplus (474) (775)

Add/(deduct) non cash items:

 Depreciation 332 303

Total non-cash items 332 303

Add/(deduct) movements in working capital:

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories 44 28

 (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 76 493

 Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions (3) (104)

Working capital movements – net 117 417

Add/(deduct) investing activities:

 (Increase)/decrease in fixed asset accruals (38) (7)

 Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 18 –

Total investing activity items (20) (7)

Net cash flows from operating activities (45) (62)
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Appendix Two:  
Delegations and contracting out
The following lists the significant 
functions and powers of the Authority 
and the Director that are delegated 
or contracted out, or for which 
appointments have been made, or 
for which there is memorandum of 
understanding.

The Authority has delegated the following operational 
activities to contractors by way of contracts for 
services:

a contract for services has been entered into with  ■

Kordia to provide high frequency and very high 
frequency distress and safety radio communications 
for shipping, effective from 1 July 2004 until  
30 June 2010

a contract for the provision of maintenance services  ■

for the MNZ Maritime Distress and Safety Radio 
Network has been entered into with Downer 
Engineering Limited, effective from 1 July 2003  
until 30 June 2008

the issue of statutory certificates in respect   ■

of convention ships registered under the  
New Zealand flag has been delegated to the 
following classification societies:

American Bureau of Shipping ■

Bureau Veritas ■

Det Norske Veritas ■

Germanischer Lloyd ■

Lloyds Register ■

the inspection of New Zealand pleasure craft  ■

departing for overseas has been delegated to 
Yachting New Zealand

approved SSM companies have been delegated the  ■

authority to issue SSM Certificates

harbourmasters have been delegated the power: ■

to set, conduct, and administer examinations  ■

and tests for the issue of pilot licences and 
master’s pilotage exemptions; and

to direct that a pilot be taken on board a ship in  ■

New Zealand waters in specified circumstances

the enforcement of section 198 of the Maritime  ■

Transport Act 1994 (regarding coastal shipping)  
has been delegated to the Secretary for Transport

the power to conduct examinations of seafarers   ■

has been delegated to recognised examiners

the power to issue maritime documents under   ■

Part 35 (Audits and Examinations) of the Maritime 
Rules has been delegated to a number of 
organisations; and

the power to approve the erection or alteration of   ■

a navigational aid in the Marlborough District,  
under section 200(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 
1994 has been delegated to Alex van Wijngaarden 
as Harbourmaster, Marlborough District Council.

The Authority has also delegated the following 
activities associated with the protection of the  
marine environment:

a contract for services has been entered into  ■

with Massey university for the preparedness and 
response capability to respond to oiled marine 
wildlife arising from certain Tier 2 and all Tier 3 
marine oil spills

the power to investigate marine oil spills within  ■

the coastal marine area has been delegated to 
specified persons in regional councils

the power to approve and monitor oil transfer  ■

site marine oil spill contingency plans has been 
delegated to the chief executive officers of  
regional councils.

The following contracts have been entered into with 
persons and organisations outside the Authority in 
relation to the provision of services relating to Output 
Class: Class III Maritime Search and Rescue:

EMS Pacific Pty Limited Maintenance Services  ■

Agreement for the maintenance of the COSPAS-
SARSAT Local user Terminal (facilities installed in 
the RCCNZ)

EMS Pacific Pty Limited Software Subscription/ ■

Support Services Agreement for the software 
support of the COSPAS-SARSAT Local user 
Terminal

Australian Maritime Safety Authority Agreement in  ■

respect of the operation of the Local user Terminal

Life Flight Trust agreement to supply   ■

medical advice.

Administration of the MNZ Staff Superannuation 
Scheme has been contracted to Tower Group  
Services Limited.
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Appendix Three:  
Statutory functions and roles
MNZ sTATUToRY FUNcTIoNs
The objective of MNZ as prescribed in the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994 is to:

“undertake its safety, security, marine protection, 
and other functions in a way that contributes to the 
aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive, 
and sustainable transport system.” (s430)

Section 431 of the Maritime Transport Act sets out 
MNZ’s functions as:

oNe

to promote maritime safety and security,   ■

and protection of the marine environment in  
New Zealand

to promote maritime safety and security, and  ■

protection of the marine environment beyond 
New Zealand in accordance with New Zealand’s 
international obligations

to ensure the provision of appropriate distress  ■

and safety radio communication systems and 
navigational aids for shipping

to ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and  ■

ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills

to license ships, their operation and their crews ■

to co-operate with, or to provide advice and  ■

assistance to, any government agency or local 
government agency when requested to do so 
by the Minister, but only if the Minister and the 
Authority are satisfied that the performance  
of the Authority’s functions and duties will not  
be compromised

to provide information and advice with respect  ■

to maritime transport and marine protection, 
and to foster appropriate information education 
programmes with respect to maritime transport and 
marine protection, that promote its objective

to investigate and review maritime transport  ■

accidents and incidents and maritime security 
breaches and incidents

to maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships ■

to maintain and preserve records and documents  ■

relating to the Authority’s functions

to advise the Minister on technical maritime   ■

safety policy

to perform such other functions as are conferred on  ■

it by this Act or any other Act.

two

The Authority shall carry out such other maritime 
functions, and such maritime duties, as the Minister 
may from time to time prescribe by notice in  
the Gazette.

three

The Authority must, if directed by the Minister under 
section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990, do any or all 
of the following:

maintain and operate the SAR co-ordination centre  ■

established under section 14B(1)(a) of the Civil 
Aviation Act 1990

co-ordinate, or participate in the coordination of,  ■

any SAR operation specified in section 14B(1)(a) of 
the Civil Aviation Act 1990

perform, or participate in the co-ordination of, any  ■

search and rescue operation specified in section 
14B(1)(a) of the Civil Aviation Act 1990

exercise any or all of the powers of the Minister  ■

under section 14B(1)(b) and (c) and section 14B(2) 
of the Civil Aviation Act 1990.

These functions are delivered within the context of the 
NZTS and through a culture of collaboration amongst 
government transport sector agencies. This means 
that wherever possible, a sector wide approach to 
policy and other issues is taken.

coNVENTIoNs
MNZ has obligations delegated to it under the 
Performance Agreement with the Minister of Transport:

In respect of the International Maritime Organisation 
(IMO), those responsibilities of a specifically technical 
or safety regulatory nature, related to the prevention of 
marine pollution were:

International Convention for the Safety of Life at  ■

Sea, 1974 and the 1978 Protocol; acceded to by 
New Zealand on 23 February 1990

Convention on the International Regulations for  ■

Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972; ratified by  
New Zealand on 26 November 1976
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International Convention on Load Lines, 1966;  ■

ratified by New Zealand on 5 February 1970

International Convention on Tonnage Measurement  ■

of Ships, 1969; ratified by New Zealand on  
6 January 1978

International Convention for Safe Containers, 1972;  ■

acceded to by New Zealand on 23 December 1974

International Convention on Standards of Training,  ■

Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers, 1978 
as amended in 1995; acceded to by New Zealand 
on 30 July 1986

International Convention on Maritime Search   ■

and Rescue, 1979; ratified by New Zealand on  
26 April 1985

Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution  ■

by Dumping of Wastes and other Matter, 1972 (the 
London Convention); ratified by New Zealand on  
30 April 1975

International Convention Relating to Intervention   ■

on the High Seas in Cases of Oil Pollution 
Casualties, 1969; acceded to by New Zealand  
on 26 March 1975

Convention on the International Maritime Satellite  ■

Organisation (INMARSAT), 1976; definitive signature 
by New Zealand on 17 August 1977

Convention for the Protection of Submarine   ■

Cables, 1984; acceded to by New Zealand on  
23 September 1988

International Convention on Civil Liability for oil  ■

pollution damage 1969, acceded to by New 
Zealand in 1976 (CLC); and its 1992 Protocol, 
acceded to by New Zealand on 25 June 1999

International Convention on the establishment  ■

of an International Fund for Compensation for 
Oil Pollution Damage, 1971 (Fund Convention), 
acceded to by New Zealand on 22 November 
1996; and its 1992 Protocol, acceded to by  
New Zealand on 25 June 1999

International Convention for the Prevention of  ■

Pollution from Ships 1973 and the 1978 Protocol 
(MARPOL)

International Convention on Oil Pollution  ■

Preparedness, Response and Cooperation, 1990

1996 Protocol to the London Convention 1972. ■

In respect of the International Labour Convention (ILO):

unemployment Indemnity (Shipwreck) 1920 (No. 8) ■

Placing of Seamen Convention 1920 (No. 9) ■

Minimum Age (Trimmers and Stokers) 1921 (No. 15) ■

Medical Examination of Young Persons (Sea)  ■

Convention 1921 (No. 16)

Seamen’s Articles of Agreement Convention   ■

1926 (No. 22)

Repatriation of Seamen’s Convention 1926 (No. 23) ■

Officers Competency Certificate Convention   ■

1936 (No. 53)

Minimum Age (Sea) Convention (Revised)   ■

1936 (No. 58)

Food and Catering (Ship’s Crew) Convention   ■

1946 (No. 68)

Certification of Ships Cooks Convention   ■

1946 (No. 69)

Certification of Able Seamen Convention   ■

1946 (No. 74)

Accommodation of Crews Convention (Revised)  ■

1949 (No. 92)

Accommodation of Crews (Supplementary  ■

Provisions) Convention 1970 (No. 133)

Prevention of Accidents (Seafarers) Convention  ■

1970 (No. 134)

Continuity of Employment (Seafarers) Convention  ■

1976 (No. 145).

The New Zealand Government’s obligations in relation 
to combating marine oil spill pollution emergencies 
under the 1986 Convention for the Protection of the 
Natural Resources and Environment of the South 
Pacific Region.

hEAlTh ANd sAFETY IN 
EMPloYMENT obJEcTIVEs
The Prime Minister, in May 2003, acting pursuant to 
section 28B of the Health and Safety in Employment 
Act 1992 and having regard to the specialist 
knowledge of relevant agencies, designated MNZ (at 
that time the Maritime Safety Authority) to administer 
this Act for the maritime sector, specifically for ships. 
The scope of the designation is for work on board 
ships and for ships as places of work.

MNZ has entered into a Memorandum of 
understanding with the Department of Labour which 
provides that the Parties work co-operatively to:

ensure safe and healthy people and workplaces ■

co-ordinate the application of health and safety  ■

legislation to avoid overlaps and gaps in coverage 
and to promote efficiency

provide a seamless, responsive and consistent  ■

service; and
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maintain an open relationship to promote and  ■

produce optimal results for workplace health and 
safety in New Zealand.

MARITIME sEcURITY obJEcTIVEs
The Maritime Security Act 2004 has as its purposes:

to enable New Zealand to meet its maritime   ■

security obligations under the Safety of Life  
at Sea Convention

to enhance ship and port security; and ■

to prevent international terrorism. ■

MNZ, as the Designated Authority under the Act, has 
as its principal objectives to ensure that:

the Chief Executive undertakes the activities that the  ■

Designated Authority considers necessary for the 
effective implementation of the International Ship 
and Port Facility Security Code; and

its decisions and the actions of the Chief Executive  ■

are consistent with the Safety or Life at Sea 
Convention and the Code.

sEARch ANd REscUE obJEcTIVEs
Pursuant to section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990 
MNZ has assumed responsibility for providing Class III 
search and rescue on a 24 hours per day, 7 days per 
week basis. These services are:

provision in the New Zealand SAR region of 24/7  ■

SAR co-ordination services for Class III SAR 
operations for persons in distress or in need of 
assistance, such services to meet or exceed 
New Zealand’s obligations under any applicable 
international agreements

co-ordination of all persons, organisations, and  ■

government departments as necessary to provide 
the required Class III SAR operations

operation of the Local user Terminal ■

communication with and education of persons,  ■

organisations and government departments to 
minimise the need for and to improve and facilitate 
Class III SAR operations

provision of sufficient adequately skilled staff   ■

to ensure the SAR co-ordination services are 
available 24/7

establishment and adoption of procedures to   ■

ensure the effective co-ordination of Class III  
SAR operations

log and record all activities associated with the  ■

coordination of Class III SAR operations

completion of a report for each suspended Class  ■

III SAR operation and such other reports as are 
requested by stakeholders

provision of a person or persons to attend and  ■

represent New Zealand’s interests at international 
forums on search and rescue

provision of appropriate training for   ■

personnel involved in providing Class III SAR co-
ordination operations

maintenance of the national 406MHz distress  ■

beacon register

arranging the provision of medical advice, initial  ■

medical assistance, or medical evacuation if 
required, for persons in distress within the  
New Zealand SAR region.

RolE oF ThE AUThoRITY
The Maritime Transport Act 1994 provides for a five-
member Board, appointed in accordance with 
 the Crown Entities Act 2004.

The role of the Board is to:

set strategic direction and develop policy ■

appoint the chief executive for MNZ ■

monitor the performance of the Crown Entity and  ■

the chief executive

ensure compliance with the law, accountability  ■

documents and relevant Crown expectations

maintain appropriate relationships with the Minister,  ■

Parliament and the public.

RolE oF ThE dIREcToR
under the Maritime Transport Act, the Director of MNZ 
is a statutory officer with certain independent functions 
(from members of the Authority and the Minister) and 
specific powers concerning:

the granting of maritime or marine   ■

protection documents

the suspension of maritime or marine   ■

protection documents

the revocation of maritime or marine protection  ■

documents and

the granting of exemptions. ■

The Director has the specific functions:

to exercise control over entry into the maritime  ■

transport system through the granting of maritime 
documents and marine protection documents
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to take such action as may be appropriate to  ■

enforce the provisions of the Maritime Transport Act 
or any other Act, and of regulations and rules made 
under the Maritime Transport Act or any other Act, 
including the carrying out or requiring of inspections 
and audits

to monitor adherence, within the maritime transport  ■

system, to any regulatory requirements relating to:

safety and security, including (but not limited to)  ■

personal security

access and mobility ■

public health ■

environmental sustainability; and ■

any other matter ■

to ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport  ■

system to promote the improvement and 
development of its safety and security and

to promote compliance with safety and   ■

maritime pollution standards in the maritime 
transport system.

The Director has a key role in planning responses to 
marine oil spills and in the investigation of accidents, 
incidents or mishaps resulting in serious harm to 
people, property or the environment.

Many of the powers vested in the Director under the 
Act may be delegated to MNZ officials with appropriate 
experience and qualifications while the Director’s 
inspection and survey powers may be delegated to 
external organisations. Their performance is formally 
monitored by MNZ. The Director of MNZ, however, 
retains ultimate responsibility for any delegated 
activities. The Director cannot delegate to any person 
the power to revoke maritime and marine protection 
documents on the grounds of non-compliance with 
applicable standards. Nor can the Director delegate 
outside MNZ the power to:

suspend or revoke documents for unpaid fees ■

suspend seafarers from employment at sea ■

detain ships, maritime products or marine protection  ■

products; or

issue of infringement notices. ■
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Appendix Four:  
International matters
MNZ is responsible for administering 
and implementing a wide range of 
international maritime and marine 
environment protection conventions to 
which New Zealand is a party.

INTERNATIoNAl MARITIME 
oRGANIZATIoN (IMo)
MNZ attends and participates in a number of meetings 
of the IMO. The meetings attended during the year and 
the principal issues considered included:

The 52 ■ nd session of the IMO Sub-Committee on 
Safety of Navigation accepted New Zealand’s 
proposal for a Precautionary Area for Shipping 
around its offshore oil and gas fields. The proposal 
alerts international shipping to an increased risk 
of collision but does not impose compulsory 
restrictions. The proposal goes to the 82nd session 
of the Maritime Safety Committee for final approval 
in November. MNZ also attended the 49th session 
of the IMO Sub-Committee on Stability and Load 
Lines Safety to monitor and contribute to the 
working group developing safety recommendations 
for fishing vessels.

Council of the imO, 97 ■ th session – MNZ attended 
the 97th session of the IMO Council (as an 
observer), signing a Memorandum of understanding 
formalising its intention to undergo an audit under 
the IMO’s Voluntary Member State Audit Scheme. 
New Zealand chaired the working group tasked 
with developing the scheme, which is intended 
to provide an audited Member State with a 
comprehensive and objective assessment of  
how effectively it administers and implements 
mandatory IMO instruments. MNZ also attended 
the launch of New Zealand’s candidature for a seat 
on the Council.

Legal Committee, 92 ■ nd session – the focus of the 
Legal Committee included work on a draft wreck 
removal convention and the fair treatment of 
seafarers involved in an accident.

maritime safety Committee (msC), 82 ■ nd session – 
adopted new standards for passenger ship safety, 
and also considered security and facilitation issues 
related to the carriage of containers by ships.

The 38 ■ th session of the Sub-Committee on 
Standards of Training and Watchkeeping. The main 
item on the agenda was a comprehensive review of 
the associated convention and code.

sub-Committee on Flag state implementation  ■

(Fsi), 15th session – at this session New Zealand 
presented a paper to FSI. The paper introduced 
groundbreaking thesis on The Econometrics of 
maritime safety; a study to determine the causal 
links between port state control and casualties. 
This, and another paper New Zealand submitted 
under the same agenda item, resulted in the setting 
up of a correspondence group to investigate the 
inclusion of accident data into the inspection 
targeting of flag state and port state inspection. 

oThER bIlATERAl ANd 
MUlTIlATERAl ARRANGEMENTs
In addition to its work in the IMO, MNZ continued  
to participate actively in a number of other  
international fora:

Tokyo memorandum on Port state Control in  ■

the Asia-Pacific region – MNZ attended the 16th 
meeting of the Port State Control Committee. Work 
included revision of the Port State Control Manual 
and Guidelines for the Detention Review Panel, 
as well as planning for a concentrated inspection 
campaign on cargo securing

Australian National marine safety Committee ■  – MNZ 
is represented on the Committee in a non-voting 
capacity. Some of the topics discussed included 
pilotage standards, certification of competencies, 
national standards for commercial vessels, intact 
stability standards and distress beacon disposal.
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Appendix Five:  
Glossary of terms
406 Beacon An emergency position indicating radio beacon (EPIRB) operating at a 406MHz frequency.

Barge A vessel, usually flat-bottomed and with or without its own power, used for transporting 
goods, especially on canals or rivers and inland waterways.

Bulk carrier Cargo ship designed to carry dry homogenous cargo in bulk, eg ore carriers.

Capability/inputs Resources, competencies and processes that an organisation needs to efficiently deliver the 
goods and services required to achieve the results sought.

Catastrophic spill A large-scale spill for which the timing and location will be impossible to predict and which will 
have severe environmental consequences. The overall response to such a spill is likely to be 
beyond New Zealand’s domestic capability and international assistance may be needed; or 
large-scale spill due to unusual conditions, which is likely to have devastating consequences, 
and where the likelihood of occurrence is impossible to predict.

Class iii Sar A search and rescue operation that is associated with:

activated emergency locator transmitters ■

a missing or distressed aircraft ■

a missing or distressed surface vessel requiring the use of national or international civil or  ■

military resources, or coordination with other States; or

an operation that began as a Class II SAR but where responsibility has transferred by  ■

mutual agreement from the NZ Police to the RCCNZ. 

exclusive economic zone All marine waters from the outer edge of the Territorial Sea (12 nautical miles) seawards for 
188 nautical miles until the 200 nautical mile limit.

FishSaFe An industry-led body focused on improving safety outcomes in the commercial fishing fleet.

Flag state State (country) in which the vessel is registered.

incident Command 
Centre (iCC)

The forward response operation command centre that accommodates the Incident Command 
Team. In the case of a Tier 3 response, the Command Centre may be the Tier 1 or Tier 2 
Command Centre as defined by the respective Tier 1 or Tier 2 Plan or any other suitable 
location defined by NOSC.

independent review  
of MNZ

A review of MNZ was commissioned by the MoT following a decline in income from the MSC 
caused by the rationalisation of international shipping, with larger vessels visiting New Zealand 
less frequently. PricewaterhouseCoopers and Thompson Clarke Shipping completed the 
review of MNZ in 2005. They found that:

MNZ was not financially sustainable in the medium and longer term if reductions in MSC  ■

revenue continued

the labour market shortage of specialist and technical maritime personnel had impacted on  ■

MNZ’s capability

the IT systems and physical assets were a key part of MNZ’s capability and additional  ■

funding was required to assist with the replacement of these assets.

international agreements The Minister of Transport, through the Secretary for Transport, may require input and, when 
practicable, representation from the Authority in respect of the Government’s involvement in 
other international agreements, projects and fora. These include but are not limited to:

Asia Pacific Economic Co-operation (APEC) ■

Transportation Working Group and biennial Transport Ministerial ■

Australian Transport Council (ATC) and its subsidiary organisations   ■

(including the Standing Committee on Transport-SCOT)

Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Agreement (TTMRA); and ■

Australia-New Zealand Technical and Administrative Co-operation in Transport (TACT). ■
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international Safety 
Management Code

This Code is concerned with the procedures whereby a ship is managed, both on board and 
on shore, rather than laying down specific rules as to the technical condition of the ship itself 
(technical rules are dealt with in a host of other Conventions).

The Code is drafted in broad terms and lays down a set of general principles, of widespread 
application to all types of ships and owners. It sets a number of safety management objectives 
and requires that companies develop, implement and maintain a written safety management 
system covering a whole range of safety, environment and related matters.

international Ship and 
Port Security Code (iSPS)

IMO framework for implementing maritime security measures.

local user terminal: The system by which alert and location data from distress beacons is received from satellites 
and translated for use in SAR activities.

long range identification 
and tracking

A robust international scheme for long-range identification and tracking of ships to enhance 
security, by providing ship identity and current location information to evaluate the security risk 
posed by a ship.

Marine oil spill Means the actual or probable release, discharge, or escape of oil into the internal waters  
of New Zealand or New Zealand marine waters (refer section 281 of the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994).

Marine protection rules Rules made by the MoT for the purpose of protecting the marine environment  
(section 2 MTA 1994).

Maritime rules Maritime rules relate to the safety and security of ships and people. The rules prescribe 
requirements for ship design, construction, equipment, crewing, operation and tonnage 
measurement, and for the carriage of passengers and cargoes. Many of the standards are 
based on international ship safety conventions.

MarPOl Convention The International Convention for Prevention of Pollution from Ships 1973 and its  
1978 Protocol.

National Marine Oil Spill 
Contingency Plan

The marine oil spill response plan produced by the Director of MNZ, and sometimes referred 
to as the National Plan.

Navigational aids Lights, beacons, and buoys.

New Zealand  
continental waters

Includes New Zealand marine waters and those waters beyond the outer limit of the exclusive 
economic zone of New Zealand but over the continental shelf of New Zealand.

New Zealand  
marine waters

Includes the territorial sea of New Zealand and the waters of the exclusive economic zone of 
New Zealand.

New Zealand Port and 
Harbour Safety Code

A code that aims to promote good practice in the conduct of safe marine operations in ports 
and harbours. It represents the national standard against which the policies, procedures  
and performance of regional councils, port companies, MNZ and other relevant parties may  
be measured.

New Zealand register  
of Ship

A record of all ships registered in New Zealand.

New Zealand waters The territorial sea of New Zealand; the internal waters of New Zealand; and all rivers and other 
inland waters of New Zealand. (Section 2 MTA 1994). 

Oil Pollution Fund A statutory fund that receives its income from the Oil Pollution Levy. It is used to provide 
money for New Zealand’s preparations for oil spill response and to meet the costs of clean up 
where no spiller can be found to meet the costs.

Oil Pollution levy A differential levy imposed on all vessels that carry oil as either cargo (tankers) or as fuel, 
according to a formula based on the risk of an oil spill from their particular operation. Some 
offshore installations also pay a set levy based on their risk factor. 

Oil spill response Actions taken to confirm the presence of an oil spill, stop its flow from the source, contain it, 
collect it, protect areas from damage by it, mitigate its effects on the environment, and clean 
up wildlife and areas contaminated by it. It is the entire process by which a marine oil spill is 
managed, including response planning, set-up, clean up and termination.
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Output classes A group of similar outputs, or those that can be logically grouped together for  
appropriation purposes.

Outputs Goods or services that are (or are to be) supplied by a department, Crown entity, Office of 
Parliament, or other person or body.

Performance agreement An annual contract between the Minister of Transport and MNZ; it is the primary operating 
document of MNZ and is central to the accountability process. It sets out how and to what 
standard MNZ is to perform its functions and standards whereby MNZ’s performance will  
be measured.

Performance Standard The precise target to be achieved.

Pleasure craft: Means a ship that is used exclusively for the owner’s pleasure or as the owner’s residence, 
and is not offered or used for hire or reward; but does not include:

a ship that is provided for transport or sport or recreation by or on behalf of any institution,  ■

hotel, motel, place of entertainment, or other establishment or business

a ship that is used on any voyage for pleasure if it is normally used or intended to be  ■

normally used as a fishing ship or for the carriage of passengers or cargo for hire or reward

a ship that is operated or provided by any club, incorporated society, trust, or business. ■

(Section 2 MTA 1994).

regional Marine Oil Spill 
Contingency Plan

A marine oil spill contingency plan prepared by a regional council and approved by the Director 
of MNZ under section 292 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. It is sometimes referred to as a 
regional plan. 

regulatory framework Primary and tertiary legislation, codes, guidelines and associated explanatory documents at 
the local, national and international level.

risk management The culture, processes and structures that are directed towards the continuous management 
of both opportunities and adverse effects impacting on our business.

Safe Operational Plan A Safe Operational Plan is a scaled down version of Safe Ship Management. It is aimed at 
providing a practical and affordable set of safety requirements for small boats.

Safe Ship Management SSM is a safety management system for commercial vessels that ensures that vessel are 
maintained and operated safely throughout the year.

Search and rescue – 
Class i and ii

Come under control of NZ Police and are primarily “local operations”.

Search and rescue – 
Class iii

See Class III SAR.

Seafarer Any person who:

is employed or engaged on any ship in any capacity for hire or reward; or ■

works on a ship for gain or reward otherwise than under contract of employment; but ■

does not include a pilot or any person temporarily employed on a ship while it is in port. ■

(Section 2 MTA 1994)

Ship Means every description of boat or craft used in navigation, whether or not it has any means 
of propulsion; and includes:

a barge, lighter, or other vessel ■

a hovercraft or other thing deriving full or partial support in the atmosphere from the  ■

reaction of air against the surface of the water over which it operates

a submarine or other submersible. ■

(Section 2 MTA 1994).

SOlaS ship Means any ship to which the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974 
applies, namely:

a passenger ship engaged on an international voyage; or ■

a non-passenger ship of 500 tons or more engaged on an international voyage. ■

(Part 20, Maritime Rules).

94

MaritiMe New ZealaNd



tabletop exercise A simulated interactive exercise that helps to test the capability of an organisation to respond 
to a simulated event.

threat The possible impact or consequences that a spill of oil could create if allowed to come in 
contact with a biological, social, or economic resource.

tier 1 response (oil spill) Responsibility lies with ships, offshore installations, and transfer sites.

Site specific and includes most shore-side industry with oil transfer sites, offshore installations, 
and all vessels required to have a shipboard plan. All Tier 1 sites and vessels are expected 
to plan for and be able to provide a clearly identifiable first response to pollution incidents for 
which they are responsible.

(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006).

tier 2 response (oil spill) Responsibility lies with regional councils.

Regional councils, which are expected to plan for and respond to marine oil spills within their 
part of the Territorial Sea (12 nautical miles) where the spills exceed the clean-up capability of 
Tier 1, or for which no responsible party can be identified.

(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006)

tier 3 response (oil spill) Responsibility lies with MNZ – also involves spills that may require international assistance.

MNZ, which manages the National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan for spills within a region 
which are beyond the resources of the region, or which occur within the EEZ, but outside 
regional council boundaries.

(National Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan, March 2006).

Vessel Means a ship or a seaplane while it is on the surface of the water

(Part 22, Maritime Rules).
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Appendix Six – Abbreviations

aiS Automatic Identification system

aMSa Australian Maritime Safety Authority.

aPeC Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation.

atC Australian Transport Council.

eeZ Exclusive Economic Zone.

ePirB Emergency Position Indicating Radio Beacon.

erMa Environmental Risk Management Authority.

GMdSS Global Maritime Distress and Safety System.

GPS Global Positioning System.

HNS Hazardous and Noxious Substances.

iMO International Maritime Organisation.

inmarsat International Maritime Satellite Communication System.

iSM International Safety Management Code.

iSO International Organization for Standardisation.

iSPS International Ship and Port Security Code.

lrit Long Range Identification and Tracking.

MFat Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

MNZ Maritime New Zealand. Established, under the name Maritime Safety Authority,  
on 20 August 1993 under the Maritime Transport Act 1993.

Mot Ministry of Transport.

MoU Memorandum of understanding.

NPHSS National Port and Harbour Safety Systems 

NZtS New Zealand Transport Strategy.

OeCd Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.

OPrC International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Co-operation, 1990.

PBSaG Pleasure Boat Safety Advisory Group (comprises representatives of the recreational boating 
community, safety agencies, and local government).

PSC Port State control (Inspection and control of non-New Zealand flag ships).

rCCNZ Rescue Co-ordination Centre New Zealand.

Sar Search and Rescue.

SOlaS International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974.

SSM Safe Ship Management.

SSP Statement of Service Performance.

StCw International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watch keeping for Seafarers, 
1978 as amended in 1995.

taCt Australia-New Zealand Technical and Administration Cooperation in Transport.

tSSd Transport Sector Strategic Directions.

VHF Very High Frequency radio.

VtS Vessel Traffic System.
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Appendix Seven: 
Directory
wellINgtoN offIce
Level 10, Optimation House
1 Grey Street
PO Box 27006
Wellington 6141
Phone: +64 4 473 0111
Toll free info line: 0508 22 55 22
Fax +64 4 494 1263

www.maritimenz.govt.nz

dIstrIct offIces

WHANGAREI

Manaia House
Rathbone Street
PO Box 472 
Whangarei 0140
Phone: +64 9 438 1909
Fax: +64 9 438 1909

AUCKLAND

20 Augustus Terrace
Level 2, Suite 6, Parnell
PO Box 624 
Auckland 1052
Phone: +64 9 307 1370
Fax: +64 9 309 3573

TAURANGA

Nikau House
27-33 Nikau Crescent
Mount Maunganui
PO Box 5288 
Mount Maunganui 3150
Phone: +64 7 575 2079
Fax: +64 7 575 2083

NEW PLYMOUTH

Hutchen Place
Port of Taranaki
PO Box 6094 
New Plymouth 4344
Phone: +64 6 751 3131
Fax: +64 6 751 4097

NAPIER

NZWTA Building
Cnr Lever & Bridge Streets
PO Box 12012, Ahuriri 
Napier 4144
Phone: +64 6 835 4889
Fax: +64 6 831 0008

NELSON

Shipping House
36 Graham Street
PO Box 5015, Port Nelson
Nelson 7043
Phone: +64 3 548 2434
Fax: +64 3 548 2998

PICTON

Picton Office
Mariners Mall
PO Box 301
Picton 7250
Phone: +64 3 520 3068
Fax: +64 3 520 3068

LYTTELTON

Level 1
Shipping Services Building
Norwich Quay
PO Box 17
Lyttelton 8841
Phone: +64 3 328 8734
Fax: +64 3 328 9423

DUNEDIN

1 Birch Street
PO Box 1272
Dunedin 9054
Phone: +64 3 477 4055
Fax: +64 3 477 9121

BLUFF

72 Gore Street, Bluff  
PO Box 1709
Invercargill 9840
Phone: +64 3 212 8958
Fax: +64 3 212 8578
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FINANcIAl sTATEMENTs

mArINe pollutIoN respoNse servIce
755 Te Atatu Road North
PO Box 45-209, Te Atatu
Auckland 0651
Phone: +64 9 834 3908
Fax: +64 9 834 3907

rescue coordINAtIoN ceNtre  
New ZeAlANd
Avalon TV Studios
PO Box 30-050 
Lower Hutt 5040
Phone: +64 4 577 8030  
Fax: +64 4 577 8041 

AudItors
Audit New Zealand
Wellington
on behalf of the Auditor-General

INsurANce Brokers
Aon Risk Services (NZ) Limited
Wellington
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A GUIDE TO THE PHOTOS
Enhancing the sustainability and effectiveness of the Safe 
Ship Management (SSM), a safety system for commercial 
vessels, is a key strategic priority for Maritime New Zealand. 
This theme is refl ected in many of the photos included in this 
year’s annual report.

SSM covers most New Zealand-owned commercial 
vessels – there are approximately 1800 operators/owners of 
commercial and non-passenger vessels that include charter 
water taxis, car ferries, charter fi shing boats, charter fi shing 
boats, charter yachts, barge and dual function vessels.

Cover

Port Nelson serves the top of the South Island and is home 
base to a fi shing fl eet, provides comprehensive facilities 
and services to international shipping lines and is a popular 
destination for yachts.

Page 2

Lyttelton Port of Christchurch is a deep-water port that caters 
for a huge volume of imports and exports, with over 1300 
ships arriving each year

Page 4

In the heart of Auckland city, the New Zealand National 
Maritime Museum at the Viaduct Harbour overlooks a world 
class marina.

Page 9

A team of 14 Maritime Safety Inspectors (MSIs) are based at 
10 major ports around New Zealand. Nelson MSI John Auld 
checks out some SSM documentation.

Pages 14-15

The Marine Pollution Response Service maintain a major 
arsenal of oil spill response equipment held in Auckland as 
well as 20 smaller caches spread around 16 New Zealand 
regions.

Pages 33

Lyttelton’s container terminal provides specialised cargo 
handling and stevedoring services for containers, together 
with various forms of plant hire.

Page 53

Stay on top with communications equipment is the safety 
message of a new recreational boating campaign launched 
in October. The “face” of the campaign is former Navy diver 
Robert Hewitt who was lost at sea for 75 hours.

Page 61

Charter boat cruises are an increasingly popular with both 
New Zealand and international tourists.

Page 71

This “night on the rocks” photo was the eye-catching cover 
for the September issue of Lookout! which features the 
lessons to be learnt from maritime accidents to improve safety 
in both recreational boating and commercial shipping.
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